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Chairman’s Letter 
 
Dear Shareholders, 
 
I am pleased to provide you with Skylark’s 2025 Annual Report, my first as Chairman of the Board. It is a privilege to serve 
as your Chair and I am tremendously excited about the future of Skylark as the business sets out on a new era of growth.  
 
I would also like to acknowledge my predecessor in the Chairman’s role, Dr. Fred Hess, for his many years of committed 
service to the Company. Fred continues to serve shareholders in his capacity as a Non-Executive Director and his technical 
skills and commercial nous are of significant value to all connected with the Company.   
 
Strategic Overhaul 
 
Skylark is undergoing a major evolution with our new executive team firmly embedded in the business and a meaningful 
portfolio rebalancing underway.    
 
Historically Skylark was singularly focused on developing its Citronen Project in Greenland, a strategy that ultimately 
proved unsuccessful in a time frame acceptable to shareholders. The business now has considerable experience in the gold 
sector and several key related geographies, and these factors will help ensure Skylark’s transition to a portfolio-based 
strategy.  
 
Ultimately, the Company seeks to own a pipeline of projects spread across a range of jurisdictions and with different 
maturity profiles. We are a discerning management team and laser focused on acquiring, exploring, developing and 
operating long-life mining projects. It is early in the Skylark story but brighter days are ahead.  
 
Plans for 2026 and Beyond 
 
What does that mean in practice? 
 
Firstly our existing portfolio has seen new investment, particularly our copper and rare metal pegmatite projects in Mt Isa 
and Minas Gerais, Brazil respectively. The Board considers both commodity groups have strong future demand curves and 
will provide valuable diversification as the business reduces its reliance on the zinc market over time.  
 
Adding gold exposure to the portfolio is another growth focus and is something Skylark has prioritised in 2025 to date. This 
will likely continue into 2026 with target geographies including West Africa, Central Asia and the Americas; all regions the 
Skylark team knows very well.   
 
To close, I would like to thank our shareholders for your ongoing support. The Company is poised for growth and we look 
forward to updating you all on positive developments in the coming months. I would also like to thank my fellow Directors 
for their efforts over the last year, and of course Skylark’s dedicated and committed staff who work from many corners of 
the globe.  
 
Yours faithfully, 
 

 
 
Nikolai Zelenski 
Executive Chairman  
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Directors’ Report  
 
Your Directors present their report on Skylark Minerals Limited (the ‘Company’ and ‘Skylark’) and its controlled entities 
(together the ‘Consolidated Entity’) for the financial year ended 30 June 2025. 
 
Directors 

The names of Directors in office at any time during or since the end of the year are: 
 

• Nikolai Zelenski (appointed 17 December 2024) 
• Frederick Hess  
• Michael Jardine  
• Alexander Downer AC (resigned 17 December 2024) 
• Paul Cahill 
• Danny Segman (appointed 28 November 2024) 
• Bruce Garlick (resigned 28 November 2024) 

 
Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated. 
 
Principal Activities and Significant Changes in Nature of Activities 

The principal activities of the Consolidated Entity during the financial year continued to be the exploration and 
evaluation of the Consolidated Entity’s existing base and battery metals projects. In parallel Skylark is conducting a 
targeted business development strategy aimed at enhancing its gold project exposure and complementing its existing 
portfolio of projects, to diversify the Company’s geographic and commodity risk.   
 
Operating Results 

The consolidated loss of the Consolidated Entity after providing for income tax amounted to $4,534,415 (2024: 
$1,572,903). 
 
Review of Operations 

Transformational Appointment of Mr. Nikolai Zelenski and experienced Gold Sector Leadership Team 
 
In December 2024 the Company completed a significant step in its strategic business evolution with the appointment 
of Mr. Nikolai Zelenski, a highly experienced and accomplished gold industry leader, as the Company’s new Executive 
Chair-Elect. Mr. Zelenski had a highly successful tenure as CEO of Nordgold, where he led the company from a start-up 
into a global top-fifteen gold producer, with annual EBITDA exceeding US$1 billion. During his leadership, he developed 
a portfolio of eight mines across Russia, Kazakhstan, Burkina Faso, and Guinea, driving rapid growth with a disciplined 
focus on value creation. Led by Mr. Zelenski, a robust acquisition opportunity pipeline has been established with a range 
of priority targets identified.   
 
In addition to Mr. Zelenski the Company will further benefit from the additions of former Nordgold executives including 
Mr. Evgeny Tulubenskiy (former Nordgold Director of ESG and Chief Legal Officer) and Mr. Igor Klimanov (former 
Nordgold Director of Development). 
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Projects 
 
Perseverance Project – Brazil 
 
The Perseverance Project is a large, early stage, non-contiguous landholding located within Brazil’s Lithium Valley, in 
the Minas Gerais Province (refer Figure 1), a politically defined area including the towns of Salinas and Araçuaí that lie 
adjacent to the mines and JORC / NI43-101 compliant resources of CBL, Sigma Lithium and Latin Resources.  

Following desktop studies completed in Q1 CY2025, the Morro do Pilar Prospect was identified as the highest-priority 
target. To support and manage the exploration programme, Skylark engaged Petrus Consultoria Geologica LTDA 
(‘Petrus’), a São Paulo-based geological consultancy firm with over 20 years of relevant industry experience, who 
commenced work during the June 2025 quarter.  
 

 
   Figure 1 - Perseverance Project Location, Minas Gerais, Brazil 
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The programme comprised: 

• Stage 1: Detailed Desktop Study (completed): Compilation and review of topographical, geological and 
geophysical data, analysis of drainage morphology and terrain, and definition of stream sediment sampling 
locations.  

• Stage 2: Fieldwork (completed, analysis & reporting ongoing): Geological mapping and stream sediment / 
rock chip sampling to identify and prioritise surface anomalies for follow-up investigation. 

For additional detail, refer to the ASX announcement dated 28 May 2025. 
 
Simon & Anderson Copper Projects – Mt Isa, QLD 
 
In June 2024 the Company announced its agreement to acquire an 80% interest in EPMs 14694 (‘Simon Project’) and 
11898 (‘Anderson Project’) in Mt Isa, Queensland from Aeon Metals (ASX:AML). 
 
The Simon (EPM 14694) and Anderson (EPM 11898) Projects are located 90km north northwest and 30km west 
southwest of Mt Isa respectively. Both projects are readily accessible from Mt Isa, which is extremely well serviced by 
exploration service companies, via a combination of sealed and unsealed roads. Exploration can be performed year-
round.  
 
The Simon Project 

The Simon Project (EPM 14694) is situated adjacent to Austral Resources McLeod Hill heap leach and processing facility, 
approximately 90km northwest of Mt Isa.  Despite its proximity to existing infrastructure, the Project has never been 
drill tested. 

Simon hosts favourable stratigraphy including the Paradise Creek Formation and Gunpowder Creek Formation, and is 
transected by two regionally significant host systems, the McNamara and the Mt Jeannette Fault Zones, both associated 
with known copper mineralisation in the district.  

Geological mapping and rock chip sampling completed during the June 2025 quarter focused on: 

• The Mt Jeannette Fault Zone, within the northern EPM block; and  
• The Gunpowder Creek Formation-McNamara Fault Zone contact, in the southern EPM block, where it coincides 

with structures known to host copper mineralisation at McLeod Hill.  

Analysis and interpretation of the samples was completed subsequent to financial year end. Refer to ASX announcement 
released 15 August 2025 for further detail. 
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                       Figure 2 – Simon Project Location, Mt Isa, Queensland 
 
The Anderson Project 
 
The Anderson Project (EPM 11808) is a stand-alone exploration licence, covering a 15-kilometre section of the 
prospective May Downs Fault approximately 30 kilometres west southwest of Mt. Isa. It can be accessed from the north 
via the sealed Barkly Highway (north of Mt. Isa), Old May Downs Road, New May Downs Road, and various station 
tracks. 
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Figure 3 - Geology and TMI Magnetics of the Simon Project, showing the Prospective 
McNamara and Mt Jeannette Fault systems. 

 
Captains Flat Project, NSW, Australia  
 
Field reconnaissance conducted at the Captains Flat Project in December 2024, and announced on the ASX in January 
2025, focused on the Narongo Prospect. Located 13km south of the historic Lake George Mine, the area exhibits 
promising geological continuity with historic production of copper, zinc, lead, silver, and gold. Refer to the ASX 
announcement released 13 January 2025 for full details of sampling results.  

While anomalies were generally weak, the geological setting warrants further exploration and follow-up field activities 
are being considered for the second half of 2025. 
 
Citronen Base Metals Project, Greenland 
 
In December 2024, the Company announced it had entered into a binding agreement to divest 100% of its Citronen Zn-
Pb Project (‘Citronen Project’) through the sale of its wholly owned subsidiary, Ironbark A/S, to Almeera Ventures 
Limited, based in Dubai (the ‘Transaction’). This divestment aligns with Skylark’s strategic focus on value creation 
through gold and precious metal opportunities, alongside advancing its existing base metal portfolio. The gross 
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consideration for the Transaction was A$1.4 million, payable in staged instalments (as detailed in the December 2024 
Quarterly Activities Report). 

Completion of the Transaction was extended until the end of August 2025 to accommodate regulatory delay associated 
with the federal Greenlandic election process, however despite this extension the agreement was terminated in 
September 2025 after the end date was reached without all of the conditions precedent to completion being satisfied. 
Please refer to ASX announcement dated 9 September 2025 for further details. 
 
Business Development  
 
Throughout 2025, Skylark has pursued a disciplined and targeted business development strategy aimed at enhancing 
its gold project exposure and complementing its existing portfolio of base and battery metals assets. 

The appointment of several key former Nordgold executives, including now Executive Chairman Mr Nikolai Zelenski and 
all of whom participated in the Company’s last capital raising, has significantly bolstered Skylark’s competitive 
positioning in the sector. 

With record gold prices and intense transactional activity, the Company continues to implement a dual-track strategy 
to identify and secure high-quality gold assets suitable for near to mid-term development and production. The Board 
remains committed to executing this strategy with discipline and flexibility. 
 
Competent Persons Statement 
 
The information included in this report that relates to Exploration Results & Mineral Resources and Exploration Targets 
is based on information compiled by Ms Elizabeth Clare Laursen (B. ESc Hons (Geol), GradDip App. Fin., MSEG, MAIG), 
an employee of Skylark Minerals Limited. Ms Laursen has sufficient experience that is relevant to the style of 
mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which they are undertaking to qualify as a 
Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral 
Resources and Ore Reserves. Ms Laursen consents to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on this information 
in the form and context in which it appears. 
 
Corporate  
 
A$10 Million Placement  
 

During the reporting period the Company raised A$10 million in new funding (before costs) through the issuance of 50 
million fully paid ordinary shares (‘Placement Shares’) at A$0.20 per Placement Share (on a post-consolidation basis), 
together with two free unlisted attaching options for every three Placement Shares subscribed for (‘Placement 
Options’).  

All Directors participated in the Placement, including incoming Directors, Mr. Danny Segman (elected at the 2024 AGM), 
and Mr. Nikolai Zelenski (elected at the EGM held in December 2024). 

Placement Options terms are as follows: 

• Tranche 1: 50% exercisable at A$0.30, expiring 3 July 2026. 
• Tranche 2: 50% exercisable at A$0.40, expiring 3 January 2028.  

New Placement Shares and Options were issued and allotted on 3 January 2025. 
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Share Consolidation 

In January 2025 the Company announced that the consolidation of the issued capital of the Company on a one hundred 
and twenty-five (125) for one (1) basis, as approved by shareholders at the General Meeting held on 17 December 2024, 
had been completed. 

Change of Company Name to Skylark Minerals 

The Company began trading under its new name Skylark Minerals Limited on 7 January 2025. 

Board Changes and Advisory Board Established 
 
The Board changes during the reporting period were as follows: 

• Dr. Fred Hess: Transitioned to Non-Executive Director.  
• Mr. Danny Segman: Appointed as Non-Executive Director.  
• Mr. Bruce Garlick: Resigned as Non-Executive Director. 
• Mr. Alexander Downer resigned his role as Non-Executive Director and Mr. Nikolai Zelenski was appointed 

Executive Chairman at the EGM held 17 December 2024. 
 

A new Advisory Board was also established during the reporting period, with Mr. Peter Bacchus and Mr. Alexander 
Downer as inaugural Advisers.  

 
Discussion and Analysis of Operations and the Financial Position 

The net assets of the Consolidated Entity have increased from $1,512,371 in 2024 to $9,083,866 in 2025. The 
Consolidated Entity’s working capital, being current assets less current liabilities, was a surplus of $5,826,353 (2024: 
deficit of $1,010,237). As at 30 June 2025 the Consolidated Entity had $7,378,616 (2024: $817,214) cash on hand.  The 
Directors consider it appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 
 
The Consolidated Entity continues to ensure that administration and overhead costs are kept to a minimum. The 
Consolidated Entity continually reviews the overhead associated with fees, consultants, corporate compliance and 
maintaining the listed entity and seeks to keep these costs to a minimum without compromising the entity’s 
commitment to appropriate corporate governance principles. 
 
The Directors believe the Consolidated Entity is in a stable financial position to expand and grow its current operations. 
 
Significant Changes in State of Affairs 

There have been no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity other than those disclosed in 
the Review of Operations. 
 
Dividends Paid or Recommended 

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend and no amount has been paid or declared by way of a 
dividend to the date of this report. 
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Events After Reporting Date  

On 9 September 2025 the Company announced the agreement to divest 100% of its Citronen Project was terminated 
after the end date was reached without all of the conditions precedent to completion being satisfied. 
 
No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the Consolidated Entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of 
the Consolidated Entity in future financial years. 
 
Likely Developments and Expected Results of the Operations 

The Consolidated Entity intends to continue its exploration, development and production activities on its existing 
projects and to acquire further suitable projects for exploration as opportunities arise. 
 
Environmental Regulations 

The Consolidated Entity is aware of its environmental obligations with regards to its exploration activities and ensures 
that it complies with all regulations when carrying out any exploration work. 
 
Information on Directors 

The names and details of Directors in office at any time during or since the end of the year are: 
 
Mr. Nikolai Zelenski  
Executive Chairman | Appointed 17 December 2024 
 
Mr. Zelenski is a highly experienced and accomplished gold industry leader. Mr. Zelenski had a highly successful tenure 
as CEO of Nordgold, where he led the company from a start-up into a global top-fifteen gold producer, with annual 
EBITDA exceeding US$1 billion. During his leadership, he developed a portfolio of eight mines across Russia, Kazakhstan, 
Burkina Faso, and Guinea, driving rapid growth with a disciplined focus on value creation. Mr. Zelenski has the following 
interest in shares and rights in the Company as at the date of this report – 3,000,000 ordinary shares, 1,800,000 unlisted 
options and 3,500,000 performance rights. 
 
Dr. Frederick Hess  
Non-Executive Director | Appointed Non-Executive Chairman 19 September 2019 | Transitioned to Non-Executive 
Director 17 December 2024 
 
Dr. Hess was most recently the Managing Director of PanAust Limited which was acquired by Chinese SOE, Guangdong 
Rising Assets Management. Dr. Hess’s diverse background includes various roles where he managed the construction, 
ramp up and operation of major mines in challenging environments. Dr. Hess currently holds directorships in Aeon Metal 
Ltd (since July 2019) and Mining Project Accelerator Ltd (since April 2019). Dr. Hess has the following interest in shares 
and rights in the Company as at the date of this report – 359,967 ordinary shares, 356,667 unlisted options and 350,000 
performance rights. 
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Mr. Michael Jardine  
Managing Director | Appointed 20 September 2019 
 
Mr. Jardine has a strong background in Corporate & Project Finance, Strategy Development and Minerals Marketing and 
his previous experience includes Board & Executive roles at a number of junior ASX-listed resource companies. Mr. 
Jardine has previously served as a Director of Atrum Coal Ltd and Pegasus Metals Ltd (now Scorpion Minerals Ltd). Mr. 
Jardine also served as the General Manager, Corporate Development for formerly listed General Mining Corporation 
from 2013-2016, and Eastern Goldfields during the same period. Mr. Jardine has the following interest in shares and 
rights in the Company as at the date of this report – 1,067,167 ordinary shares, 40,000 listed options, 4,300,000 unlisted 
options and nil performance rights. 
 
Mr. Paul Cahill  
Non-Executive Director | Appointed 1 October 2021 
 
Mr. Cahill has over 30 years of experience leading the origination, evaluation, negotiation and execution of major 
complex transactions as both senior adviser and principal, particularly in the natural resources sector where he was 
Group Head of Business Development and Head of Strategic Relationships at Anglo American. 
 
In 2017, Mr. Cahill became a co-Founder and Managing Director of Bacchus Capital Advisers, an independent investment 
and merchant banking platform focussed on metals and mining and with particular expertise in public market takeover 
and defence, complex cross-border M&A, equity and debt financing and corporate restructuring. He remains Chairman 
of the Bacchus Capital Advisory Board. Mr. Cahill is an independent Non-Executive Director of LSE-listed CQS Natural 
Resources Growth & Income PLC and a Senior Adviser – Mineral Resources Investment for Mitsubishi Corporation. Mr. 
Cahill has the following interest in shares and rights in the Company as at the date of this report –250,000 ordinary 
shares, 356,667 unlisted options and 350,000 performance rights. 
 
Mr. Danny Segman  
Non-Executive Director | Appointed 28 November 2024 
 
Mr. Segman brings extensive expertise in banking, construction and property development. With a strong track record 
in building successful enterprises, he offers invaluable business acumen and strategic insight. Mr. Segman has the 
following interest in shares and rights in the Company as at the date of this report – 6,350,000 ordinary shares, 392,000 
listed options, 1,553,333 unlisted options and 350,000 performance rights. 
 
Mr. Alexander Downer AC  
Non-Executive Director | Appointed 1 October 2021 | Resigned 17 December 2024 
 
Mr. Downer was until 2023 the Executive Chair of the International School for Government at King’s College London. 
From 2014 to 2018, Mr. Downer was Australian High Commissioner to the UK. Prior to this, he was Australia’s longest-
serving Minister for Foreign Affairs, a role he held from 1996 to 2007. Mr. Downer also served as Opposition Leader and 
leader of the Australian Liberal Party from 1994 to 1995 and was Member of the Australian Parliament for Mayo for 
over 20 years. In addition to a range of other political and diplomatic roles, he was Executive Director of the Australian 
Chamber of Commerce and the United Nations Secretary General’s Special Adviser on Cyprus, in which he worked on 
peace talks between Turkish Cypriots and Greek Cypriots. He is currently Chairman of the UK think tank Policy Exchange 
and a trustee of the International Crisis Group.  
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Mr. Bruce Garlick  
Non-Executive Director | Appointed 14 May 2024 | Resigned 28 November 2024 
 
Mr. Garlick is an experienced resources sector Executive & Director and has extensive experience in exploring for nickel, 
copper, lead and PGMs, and previously also held operational roles with Normandy Mining.  
 
Company Secretary 

The following person held the position of Company Secretary during the financial year: 
 
Mr. Jonathan Whyte  
Appointed 10 February 2020 
 
Mr. Whyte is a Chartered Accountant with extensive corporate, company secretarial and financial accounting 
experience, predominantly for listed resource sector companies. Mr. Whyte is currently Company Secretary of AIM-
listed Empyrean Energy Plc as well as ASX-listed companies Infinity Metals Ltd, Charger Metals NL and Peninsula Energy 
Ltd. Mr. Whyte has the following interest in shares and rights in the Company as at the date of this report – 158,800 
ordinary shares, 214,000 unlisted options and 210,000 performance rights. 
 
Meetings of Directors 

During the financial year, 4 meetings of Directors were held. Attendances by each Director during the year were as 
follows: 
 

Directors 
Directors’ Meetings 

Number Eligible to Attend Number Attended 
Nikolai Zelenski 2 2 
Frederick Hess 4 4 
Michael Jardine 4 4 
Alexander Downer 2 2 
Paul Cahill 4 4 
Danny Segman 2 2 
Bruce Garlick 2 2 

 
Options  

As at the date of this report, the unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option are as follows: 
 

Details Grant Date Number Exercise Price ($) Date of Expiry 
Listed Options Various 1,843,314 $2.75 7 Nov 2025 
Unlisted Options 11 Dec 2023 400,000 $1.25 14 Dec 2026 
Unlisted Options 17 Dec 2024 21,713,310 $0.30 3 Jul 2026 
Unlisted Options 17 Dec 2024 21,713,171 $0.40 3 Jan 2028 
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Performance Rights  

As at the date of this report, the performance rights on issue are as follows: 
 

Details Grant Date Number Hurdle Price ($) Date of Expiry 
Performance Rights – Class A 17 Dec 2024 3,390,000 $0.30 3 Jul 2026 
Performance Rights – Class B 17 Dec 2024 3,390,000 $0.40 3 Jan 2028 

 
Indemnifying Directors and Officers  

During or since the end of the financial year the Company has given an indemnity or entered into an agreement to 
indemnify, or paid or agreed to pay insurance premiums as follows: 
 
The Company has paid premiums to insure each of the Directors and Officers against liabilities for costs and expenses 
incurred by them in defending any legal proceedings arising out of their conduct while acting in the capacity of Director 
and Officer of the Company, other than conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in relation to the Company. The amount 
of the premium was $36,064 to insure the Directors and Officers of the Company.  
 
Corporate Governance Statement 

The Company’s 2025 Corporate Governance Statement has been released as a separate document and is located on the 
Company’s website at: www.skylarkminerals.com/corporate/corporate-governance. 
 
Indemnity and Insurance of Auditor 

The Company has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of 
the Company or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor.  
 
During the financial year, the Company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of the 
Company or any related entity.  
 
Proceedings on Behalf of the Company 

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any proceedings 
to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or any part of 
those proceedings. 
  
Non-Audit Services 

The Board of Directors, in accordance with advice from the audit committee, is satisfied that the provision of non-audit 
services during the year is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the 
Corporations Act 2001. The Directors are satisfied that the services disclosed below did not compromise the external 
auditor’s independence for the following reasons: 
 

• All non-audit services are reviewed and approved by the audit committee prior to commencement to ensure 
they do not adversely affect the integrity and the objectivity of the auditor; and 

• The nature of the services provided to not compromise the general principles relating to auditor independence 
in accordance with APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants set by the Accounting Professional 
and Ethical Standards Board. 

 

http://www.skylarkminerals.com/corporate/corporate-governance
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The following fees for non-audit services were paid to the current external auditors: 
 

Service 2025 2024 
 $ $ 
Taxation Services 8,200 7,800 
Total 8,200 7,800 

 
Officers of the Company who are Former Partners of PKF Perth 

There are no officers of the Company who are former partners of PKF Perth. 
 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

The lead auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2025 has been received and can be found on 
page 22 of the financial report. 
 
Rounding of Amounts 

The Company is an entity to which ASIC Corporations Instrument 2016/191 applies and, accordingly, amounts in the 
financial statements and Directors’ Report have been rounded to the nearest dollar. 
 
Remuneration Report – Audited 

This report details the nature and amount of remuneration for each key management person of Skylark. 
 
Remuneration policy  
 
The Company’s remuneration policy has been designed to align key management personnel objectives with shareholder 
and business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component and offering specific long-term incentives based 
on key performance areas affecting the Consolidated Entity’s financial results. The Company’s Board believes the 
remuneration policy to be appropriate and effective in its ability to attract and retain the best key management 
personnel to run and manage the Consolidated Entity, as well as create goal congruence between Directors, Executives 
and Shareholders. 
 
The Board’s policy for determining the nature and amount of remuneration for key management personnel of the 
Consolidated Entity is as follows: 

• The remuneration policy, setting the terms and conditions for the key management personnel, was developed 
by the remuneration committee and approved by the Board. 

• All key management personnel receive a base salary (which is based on factors such as length of service and 
experience), superannuation and fringe benefits. 

• The remuneration committee reviews key management personnel packages annually by reference to the 
Consolidated Entity’s performance, executive performance and comparable information from industry sectors. 

 
The Company is an exploration entity, and therefore speculative in terms of performance. Consistent with attracting 
and retaining talented executives, Directors and senior executives are paid market rates associated with individuals in 
similar positions, within the same industry. 
 
Options have previously been issued to Directors to provide a mechanism to participate in the future development of 
the Company and an incentive for their future involvement with and commitment to the Company.  



 

Directors’ Report (continued) 
 

Skylark Minerals Limited | Annual Report                                                                                                    16 | P a g e  
  

Further options and performance incentives may be issued as the entity moves from an exploration entity to a producing 
entity, and key performance indicators such as profits and growth can be used as measurements for assessing board 
performance. 
 
The key management personnel receive a superannuation guarantee contribution required by the government, which 
was 11.5% for the year ended 30 June 2025, and do not receive any other retirement benefits.  
 
All remuneration paid to key management personnel is valued at the cost to the Company and expensed. Shares given 
to key management personnel are valued as the difference between the market price of those shares and the amount 
paid by the key management personnel. Options are valued using the Black-Scholes methodology. Performance Rights 
are valued using either the Black-Scholes or Hoadley option valuation model. 
 
The Board policy is to remunerate Non-Executive Directors at market rates for time, commitments and responsibilities. 
The remuneration committee determines payments to the Non-Executive Directors and reviews their remuneration 
annually, based on market practice, duties and accountability. Independent external advice is sought when required. 
The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to Non-Executive Directors is subject to approval by 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. Fees for Non-Executive Directors are not linked to the performance of the 
Consolidated Entity. However, to align Directors’ interests with shareholder interests, the Directors are encouraged to 
hold shares in the Company and are able to participate in the employee option plan. 
 
The employment conditions of the Executive Directors and other key management personnel are formalised in contracts 
of employment. All key management personnel are permanent employees of Skylark. 
 
The employment contract states a three-month resignation period. The Company may terminate an employment 
contract without cause by providing one to three months’ written notice or making payment in lieu of notice, based on 
the individual’s salary component. 
 
Employment Details of Directors and Members of Key Management Personnel 
 
The employment terms and conditions of Key Management Personnel are formalised in contracts of employment. 
 
Mr. Nikolai Zelenski 
Executive Chairman – appointed 17 December 2024 

• Executive services agreement – no fixed term; 
• Base chairman fee of US$75,000 per annum; 
• Notice period – 1 month; and  
• No termination benefit is specified in the agreement. 

 
Dr. Frederick Hess 
Director (Non-Executive) – transitioned from Non-Executive Chairman on 17 December 2024 

• Terms of agreement – no fixed term; 
• Base director fee of $120,000 per annum, exclusive of superannuation (55% in cash and 45% in shares - equity 

based remuneration will be paid annually and is subject to shareholder approval at the Company’s Annual 
General Meeting); and  

• No termination benefit is specified in the agreement. 
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Mr. Michael Jardine 
Managing Director 

• Consultancy services agreement – no fixed term; 
• Consultancy fee of $29,167 per month, exclusive of GST; 
• Notice period – 3 months; and  
• No termination benefit is specified in the agreement. 

 
Mr. Paul Cahill 
Director (Non-Executive) 

• Terms of agreement – no fixed term; 
• Base director fee of $60,000 per annum, exclusive of superannuation; and 
• No termination benefit is specified in the agreement. 

 
Mr. Danny Segman 
Director (Non-Executive) – appointed 28 November 2024 

• Terms of agreement – no fixed term; 
• Base director fee of $60,000 per annum, exclusive of superannuation (100% in shares - equity based 

remuneration will be paid annually and is subject to shareholder approval at the Company’s Annual General 
Meeting); and 

• No termination benefit is specified in the agreement. 
 
Mr. Alexander Downer AC 
Director (Non-Executive) – resigned 17 December 2024 

• Terms of agreement – no fixed term; 
• Base director fee of $60,000 per annum, exclusive of superannuation; and 
• No termination benefit is specified in the agreement. 

 
Mr. Bruce Garlick  
Director (Non-Executive) – appointed 14 May 2024, resigned 28 November 2024 

• Terms of agreement – no fixed term; 
• Base director fee of $50,000 per annum, exclusive of superannuation; and 
• No termination benefit is specified in the agreement. 

Mr. Jonathan Whyte 
Company Secretary 

• Consultancy services agreement – no fixed term; 
• Consultancy fee of $4,500 per month, exclusive of GST; 
• Notice period – 1 month; and 
• No termination benefit is specified in the agreement.  
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Table of Benefits and Payments for the Year Ended 30 June 2025 
 
The following table provides employment details of persons who were, during the financial year, Directors and members 
of Key Management Personnel of the Consolidated Entity. The table also illustrates the proportion of remuneration that 
was performance based and the proportion of remuneration received in the form of ordinary shares or performance 
rights. 
 

Key Management 
Personnel Year 

Salary & Fees 

Post-
Employment 

Benefits Incentives   
Cash 

Based 
Equity 
Based 

Super-
annuation 

Cash 
Based 

Perform-
ance Rights5 

Shares & 
Options6,7 Total 

Performance 
Based 

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ % 
Nikolai Zelenski1 2025 78,736 - 783 - 197,860 461,320 738,699 89% 
 2024 - - - - - - - - 
Dr Frederick Hess 2025 88,495 31,500 13,799 - 19,786 20,501 174,081 23% 
 2024 61,412 50,250 12,283 - - 41,206 165,151 25% 
Michael Jardine 2025 350,000 - - - - 410,020 760,020 54% 
 2024 295,167 - - - - 82,411 377,578 22% 
Alexander Downer2 2025 30,000 - 3,450 - 19,786 34,267 87,503 62% 
 2024 55,833 - 6,142 - - 33,589 95,564 35% 
Paul Cahill 2025 60,000 - - - 19,786 34,267 114,053 47% 
 2024 55,833 - - - - 33,589 89,422 38% 
Danny Segman3 2025 - 35,000 - - 19,786 20,501 75,287 54% 
 2024 - - - - - - - - 
Bruce Garlick4 2025 20,833 - - - - - 20,833 - 
 2024 3,622 2,964 - - - - 6,586 - 
Jonathan Whyte 2025 79,500 - - - 11,872 12,301 103,673 23% 
 2024 54,000 - - - - - 54,000 - 
Total 2025 707,564 66,500 18,032 - 288,876 993,177 2,074,149  
 2024 525,867 53,214 18,425 - - 190,795 788,301  

 
Notes: 

1. Mr. Nikolai Zelenski was appointed as Executive Chairman effective 17 December 2024. 
2. Mr. Alexander Downer AC resigned as Non-Executive Director effective 17 December 2024. 
3. Mr. Danny Segman was appointed as Non-Executive Director effective 28 November 2024. 
4. Mr. Bruce Garlick resigned as Non-Executive Director effective 28 November 2024. 
5. 1,500,000 Incentive Shares were approved to Executive Chairman Mr. Nikolai Zelenski at a General Meeting of shareholders 

on 17 December 2024. The ordinary shares were issued on 3 January 2025 and were valued at a post-consolidation deemed 
price of $0.25 per share. Refer to Note 22 for further information. 

6. In December 2024, 5,110,000 Performance Rights were granted to Key Management Personnel. The rights were issued in 
two tranches on 3 January 2025, with Class A vesting when the VWAP over 20 consecutive days exceeds $0.30 before 3 July 
2026 and Class B vesting when the VWAP over 20 consecutive days exceeds $0.40 before 3 January 2028. Refer to Note 22 
for further information. 

7. In December 2024, 5,474,000 unlisted Incentive Options were granted to Key Management Personnel. The options were 
issued in two tranches on 3 January 2025, with Class A exercisable at $0.30 on or before 3 July 2026 and Class B exercisable 
at $0.40 on or before 3 January 2028, with no vesting conditions specified. Refer to Note 22 for further information. 

8. On 29 November 2021, 8,000,000 loan shares were approved for advance at the Annual General Meeting to Non-Executive 
Directors Mr. Alexander Downer AC (4,000,000 loan shares) and Mr. Paul Cahill (4,000,000 loan shares). The limited 
recourse loans were valued independently using the Hoadley option valuation model and were expensed over the term of 
the loans. No loan shares were advanced and the option to issue the loan shares expired on 27 November 2024. 
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Number of Shares Held by Key Management Personnel for the Year Ended 30 June 2025 
 
The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each Director and other members of key 
management personnel of the consolidated entity including their personally related parties is set out below: 
 

Key Management 
Personnel 

Held at  
1-Jul-24 

Granted as 
remuneration5 

On-Market 
Trades 

Placement 
Participation6 

Net Change 
Other7 

Held at  
30-June-25 

Nikolai Zelenski1 N/A 1,500,000  -  1,500,000  -  3,000,000  
Frederick Hess 13,745,904  - - 250,000  (13,635,937)   359,967  
Michael Jardine 34,645,826  - -  790,000  (34,368,659)   1,067,167  
Alexander Downer2   -    - - - - N/A 
Paul Cahill -    - - 250,000  - 250,000  
Danny Segman3 N/A - 1,535,000   2,000,000   2,540,0003   6,075,000  
Bruce Garlick4 -    - - - - N/A    
Jonathan Whyte 1,100,000  - - 150,000  (1,091,200)  158,800  
Total 49,491,730  1,500,000     1,535,000  4,940,000  (46,555,796)   10,910,934  

 
Notes: 

1. Mr. Nikolai Zelenski was appointed as Executive Chairman effective 17 December 2024. 
2. Mr. Alexander Downer AC resigned as Non-Executive Director effective 17 December 2024. 
3. Mr. Danny Segman was appointed as Non-Executive Director effective 28 November 2024. Mr. Segman held 2,540,000 

ordinary shares (post-consolidation) at the time of his appointment. 
4. Mr. Bruce Garlick resigned as Non-Executive Director effective 28 November 2024. 
5. 1,500,000 Incentive Shares were approved to Executive Chairman Mr. Nikolai Zelenski at a General Meeting of shareholders 

on 17 December 2024. The ordinary shares were issued on 3 January 2025 and were valued at a post-consolidation deemed 
price of $0.25 per share. 

6. On 3 January 2025 the Company raised A$10,000,000 in new funding (before costs) through the issuance of 50,000,000 
fully paid ordinary shares at A$0.20 per Placement Share (on a post-consolidation basis), together with two free unlisted 
attaching options for every three Placement Shares subscribed for. All current Key Management Personnel participated in 
the Placement. 

7. On 3 January 2025 the Company announced that the consolidation of the issued capital of the Company on a one hundred 
and twenty-five (125) for one (1) basis, as approved by shareholders at the General Meeting held on 17 December 2024, 
had been completed. 
 

Options Held by Key Management Personnel for the Year Ended 30 June 2025 
 

Key Management 
Personnel 

Held at  
1-Jul-24 

Granted as 
remuneration1 

Exercised / 
Expired 

Placement 
Participation2 

Net Change 
Other 

Held at  
30-June-25 

Nikolai Zelenski N/A             800,000  -        1,000,000  -        1,800,000  

Frederick Hess -             190,000  -           166,667  -           356,667  

Michael Jardine -          3,800,000  -           540,000  -        4,340,000  

Alexander Downer -             190,000  - -  (190,000)  N/A  

Paul Cahill -             190,000  -           166,667  -           356,667  

Danny Segman N/A             190,000  -        1,333,333  422,0003        1,945,333  

Bruce Garlick -                       -    - -  -  N/A  

Jonathan Whyte -             114,000  - 100,000  -           214,000  

Total -           5,474,000  -         3,306,667  232,000         9,012,667  
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Notes: 
1. In December 2024, 5,474,000 unlisted Incentive Options were granted to Key Management Personnel. The options were 

issued in two tranches on 3 January 2025, with Class A exercisable at $0.30 on or before 3 July 2026 and Class B exercisable 
at $0.40 on or before 3 January 2028, with no vesting conditions specified.  
 
The options were valued using a Hoadley ESO2 valuation model, utilising the following inputs: 
 

Measurement of Fair Value Class A Class B 
Grant date  17 Dec 2024 17 Dec 2024 
Number issued to Key Management Personnel  2,737,000 2,737,000 
Grant date share price  $0.25 $0.25 
Exercise price  $0.30 $0.40 
Expiry date  3 Jul 2026 3 Jan 2028 
Expected volatility  100% 100% 
Option life  1.5 years 3 years 
Risk-free interest rate  3.88% 3.88% 
Fair value per option granted  $0.1002 $0.1156 
Expense vested during year  $274,247 $316,397 

 
2. On 3 January 2025 the Company raised A$10,000,000 in new funding (before costs) through the issuance of 50,000,000 

fully paid ordinary shares at A$0.20 per Placement Share (on a post-consolidation basis), together with two free unlisted 
attaching options for every three Placement Shares subscribed for. All current Key Management Personnel participated in 
the Placement. 

3. Mr. Danny Segman was appointed as Non-Executive Director effective 28 November 2024. Mr. Segman held 422,000 
options (post-consolidation) at the time of his appointment. 

 
Performance Rights Held by Key Management Personnel for the Year Ended 30 June 2025 
 

Key Management 
Personnel 

Held at  
1-Jul-24 

Granted as 
remuneration1 

Converted / 
Expired 

Placement 
Participation 

Net Change 
Other 

Held at  
30-June-25 

Nikolai Zelenski N/A          3,500,000  - - -          3,500,000  

Frederick Hess -             350,000  - - -             350,000  

Michael Jardine -                       -    - - -                       -    

Alexander Downer -             350,000  - - (350,000) N/A  

Paul Cahill -             350,000  - - -             350,000  

Danny Segman N/A             350,000  - - -             350,000  

Bruce Garlick - -  - - - N/A  

Jonathan Whyte -             210,000  - - -             210,000  

Total -           5,110,000   -   -  (350,000)  4,760,000  
 
Notes: 

1. In December 2024, 5,110,000 Performance Rights were granted to Key Management Personnel. The rights were issued in 
two tranches on 3 January 2025, with Class A vesting when the VWAP over 20 consecutive days exceeds $0.30 before 3 July 
2026 and Class B vesting when the VWAP over 20 consecutive days exceeds $0.40 before 3 January 2028.  
 

  



 

Directors’ Report (continued) 
 

Skylark Minerals Limited | Annual Report                                                                                                    21 | P a g e  
  

The rights were valued using a Hoadley Barrier 1 valuation model, utilising the following inputs: 
 

Measurement of Fair Value Class A Class B 
Grant date  17 Dec 2024 17 Dec 2024 
Number issued to Key Management Personnel  2,555,000 2,555,000 
Grant date share price  $0.25 $0.25 
VWAP hurdle price  $0.30 $0.40 
Expiry date  3 Jul 2026 3 Jan 2028 
Expected volatility  100% 100% 
Right life  1.5 years 3 years 
Risk-free interest rate  3.88% 3.88% 
Fair value per right granted  $0.2147 $0.2206 
Total fair value  $548,650 $563,671 
Expense vested during year  $190,030 $98,845 

 
There were no other rights or options over ordinary shares in the Company held by any other Director or members of 
key management personnel of the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties. 
 
End of Audited Remuneration Report 
 
This Report of the Directors, incorporating the Remuneration Report, is signed in accordance with a resolution of the 
Board of Directors. 
 

 
Michael Jardine 
Managing Director 
 
18 September 2025 
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

TO THE DIRECTORS OF SKYLARK MINERALS LIMITED 
 
In relation to our audit of the financial report of Skylark Minerals Limited for the year ended 30 June 2025, 
to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of the Auditor Independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of professional conduct. 
 
 
 
 
 
PKF PERTH 
 
 
 
 
 
SIMON FERMANIS 
PARTNER 
 
18 September 2025  
PERTH, WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2025 
 

 Notes 
 

2025 
$ 

2024 
$ 

    
Other income  2 132,202 23,254 
    
Corporate and compliance expense  (672,572) (549,395) 
Employee benefits expense 3 (756,446) (575,201) 
Consulting expense  (772,403) (222,669) 
Due diligence costs 3 (677,052) - 
Share-based payments expense 22 (1,650,326) (244,009) 
Impairment expense 3 (112,556) (246,699) 
Extinguishment of liability   - 276,280 
Foreign exchange loss  (24,487) (33,689) 
Depreciation expense  (775) (775) 

Loss before income tax   (4,534,415) (1,572,903) 
Income tax expense 4 - - 

Loss for the year  (4,534,415) (1,572,903) 

    
Other comprehensive (loss)/income, net of income tax    
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss    
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations  162,728 (3,062) 

Other comprehensive (loss)/income, net of tax  162,728 (3,062) 

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year  (4,371,687) (1,575,965) 

    
Loss per share    
Basic and diluted loss per share (cents) 7 (10.85) (0.10) 
    
The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in 
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30 June 2025 
 

 Notes 2025 
$ 

2024 
$ 

Current Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 8 7,378,616 817,214 
Trade and other receivables 9 69,096 42,823 
Financial assets 11 - 9,715 

Total Current Assets  7,447,712 869,752 

    
Non-Current Assets    
Exploration and evaluation expenditure 13 548,794 153,557 
Property, plant & equipment  1,799 2,574 
Other assets 12 2,706,920 2,366,477 

Total Non-Current Assets  3,257,513 2,522,608 

    
Total Assets  10,705,225 3,392,360 

    
Current Liabilities    
Trade and other payables 15 573,871 956,535 
Provisions 16 47,813 28,001 
Other liabilities 17 999,675 895,453 

Total Current Liabilities  1,621,359 1,879,989 

    
Total Liabilities  1,621,359 1,879,989 

    
Net Assets  9,083,866 1,512,371 

    
Equity    
Issued capital 18 150,473,694 140,040,375 
Reserves 19 4,196,888 3,105,373 
Accumulated losses  (145,586,716) (141,633,377) 

    

Total Equity  9,083,866 1,512,371 

 
The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2025 
 
 

Notes 
 

Issued Capital 
$ 

Share-based 
payment 

reserve 
$ 

Foreign 
translation 

reserve 
$ 

Accumulated 
Losses 

$ 
Total 

$ 
       
Balance as at 30 June 2023  139,536,519 1,018,247 2,429,833 (140,685,974) 2,298,625 
       
Loss for the year   - - - (1,572,903) (1,572,903) 
Other comprehensive income       
Exchange differences arising on 
translation of foreign operations 

 - - (3,062) - (3,062) 

Total comprehensive income for 
the year 

 - - (3,062) (1,572,903) (1,575,965) 

       
Transactions with owners, 
recorded directly in equity 

      

Issue of share capital 18 600,000 - - - 600,000 
Share-based payments 22 45,000 190,795 - - 235,795 
Conversion of performance rights 18 (141,144) 95,060 - - (46,084) 
Costs of raising capital  - (625,500) - 625,500 - 
Total transactions with owners  503,856 (339,645) - 625,500 789,991 
Balance as at 30 June 2024  140,040,375 678,602 2,426,771 (141,633,377) 1,512,371 

       
Loss for the year   - - - (4,534,415) (4,534,415) 
Other comprehensive income       
Exchange differences arising on 
translation of foreign operations 

 - - 162,728 - 162,728 

Total comprehensive income for 
the year 

 - - 162,728 (4,534,415) (4,371,687) 

       
Transactions with owners, 
recorded directly in equity 

      

Issue of share capital 18 11,754,800 - - - 11,754,800 
Share-based payments 22 535,000 1,048,826 - - 1,583,826 
Costs of raising capital  (1,856,481) 461,038 - - (1,395,443) 
Historic balance write-off  - (581,077) - 581,077 - 
Total transactions with owners  10,433,319 928,787 - 581,077 11,943,183 

Balance as at 30 June 2025  150,473,694 1,607,389 2,589,499 (145,586,716) 9,083,866 

 
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cashflows 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2025 
 

 Notes 2025 
$ 

2024 
$ 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities    

Payments to suppliers and employees   (2,599,841) (1,132,307) 

Interest received  100,202 23,254 

Net cash flows (used in) operating activities 21 (2,499,639) (1,109,053) 

    

Cash Flows from Investing Activities    

Payments for exploration and evaluation  (634,516) (204,825) 

Payments for security bonds  (60,000) - 

Receipts from disposal of tenements  50,000 - 

Net cash flows (used in) investing activities  (644,516) (204,825) 

    

Cash Flows from Financing Activities    

Proceeds from share placements  10,401,000 910,836 

Payments for share issue costs  (695,443) (46,084) 

Net cash flows generated from financing activities  9,705,557 864,752 

    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  6,561,402 (449,126) 

Effect of exchange rates on cash  - - 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  817,214 1,266,340 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 8 7,378,616 817,214 

 
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2025 
 

Note 1. Statement of Material Accounting Policies 
 
The financial report of Skylark Minerals Limited (‘Skylark’ or the ‘Company’) for the year ended 30 June 2025 
was approved for issue in accordance with a resolution of Directors on 18 September 2025. The Directors have 
the power to amend and reissue the financial statements. 
 
This financial report includes the consolidated financial statements and notes of Skylark Minerals Limited and 
its controlled entities (‘Consolidated Entity’ or ‘Group’). 
 
Skylark is a listed public company, trading on the Australian Securities Exchange (‘ASX’), limited by shares, 
incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 
 
Basis of Preparation  
The accounting policies set out below have been consistently applied to all years presented. 
 
Statement of Compliance 
The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards (including Australian Interpretations) issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (‘AASB’) and the Corporations Act 2001 as appropriate for profit oriented entities. The consolidated 
financial report of the Group comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) and 
Interpretations as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’). 
 
Basis of Measurement 
The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and going concern basis, and is based on historical 
costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement of fair value of selected non-current assets, financial 
assets and financial liabilities. 
 
New, Revised or Amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations Adopted 
The Consolidated Entity has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board that are mandatory for the current 
reporting period. The adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations did not have any impact on 
the financial performance or position of the Consolidated Entity. 
 
Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not 
been early adopted. No significant impact is expected from the adoption of the new, revised or amended 
Accounting Standards. 
 
Principles of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all entities controlled by Skylark 
as at 30 June 2025 and the results of all controlled entities for the year then ended. Skylark and its controlled 
entities together are referred to in this financial report as the Consolidated Entity. Subsidiaries are all those 
entities over which the Consolidated Entity has control. The Consolidated Entity controls an entity when the 
Consolidated Entity is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Consolidated Entity. They are de-consolidated 
from the date that control ceases. 
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Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are 
eliminated.  Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment 
of the asset transferred.  Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.  All controlled entities have a June financial year end. 
 
Rounding of Amounts 
The Company is an entity to which ASIC Corporations Instrument 2016/191 applies and, accordingly, amounts 
in the financial statements and Directors’ Report have been rounded to the nearest dollar. 
 
Comparative Figures 
When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in 
presentation for the current financial year. 
 
Current and Non-Current Classification 
Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current 
classification. 
 
An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in 
the consolidated entity’s normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to 
be realised within 12 months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted 
from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other 
assets are classified as non-current. 
 
Goods and Services Tax (‘GST’) and Other Similar Taxes 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is 
not recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the 
asset or as part of the expense.  
 
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of 
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the 
statement of financial position. 
 
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 
 
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
tax authority.  
 
Key Estimates, Judgments and Assumptions 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgments and estimates relating to the 
carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities.  Actual results may differ from the estimates made.  Estimates 
and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities within the next 
annual reporting period are disclosed in the relevant notes. 
 

Note 2. Other Income 
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 2025 
$ 

2024 
$ 

Operating Activities   
Interest received 132,202 23,254 
Total Other Income 132,202 23,254 

 
Accounting Policy 
Interest 
Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of 
calculating amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using 
the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. 
 
Other Revenue 
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established.  

 

Note 3. Loss Before Income Tax  
 2025 

$ 
2024 

$ 
Loss before income tax includes the following specific expenses:   
Occupancy costs 32,477 27,312 
Employee benefits expense 717,511 548,308 
Superannuation expense 38,936 26,893 
Exploration expenditure impairment   112,556 246,699 
Due diligence expense 677,052 -  

 
Note 4. Income Tax Benefit/(Expense) 

 2025 
$ 

2024 
$ 

a) The components of tax benefit comprise:   
Current tax - - 
Deferred tax - - 
 - - 
   

b) Reconciliation of income tax to prima facie tax payable   
Accounting loss before tax (4,534,415) (1,572,903) 
   
Income tax (benefit)/expense @ 25% (2024: 25%) (1,133,604) (393,226) 
Add/(deduct) tax effect of:    
• Non-deductible expenses 612,253 79,544 
• Movement in deferred tax positions not recognised (174,116) (40,766) 
• Revenue losses not recognised 695,467 354,448 
Income tax (benefit)/expense attributable to entity - - 
   

c) As at the date of this report, the potential refundable tax offset for the reporting period ended 30 June 
2025 has not been determined. 
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 2025 
$ 

2024 
$ 

d) The following deferred tax balances have not been 
recognised:   

Deferred Tax Assets @ 25% (2024: 25%)   
Carried forward revenue losses 5,210,334 4,565,832 
Carried forward capital losses 547,484 537,710 
Carried forward capital losses (overseas) @26.5% (2024: 
26.5%) 17,292,439 15,561,227 

Provisions and accruals 16,026 14,360 
Investments 5,000 2,429 
Other 117,736 52,503 
 23,189,019 20,734,062 
   

The tax benefits of the above Deferred Tax Assets will only be obtained if: 
• The Group derives future assessable income of a nature and an amount sufficient to enable the benefits 

to be utilised;  
• The Group continues to comply with the deductibility conditions imposed by law; and 
• No change in income tax legislation adversely affects the Group in utilising the benefits. 

 
 2025 

$ 
2024 

$ 
Deferred Tax Liabilities @ 25% (2024: 25%)   
Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure  76,973 38,389 
Other 11,024 2,945 
 87,997 41,334 
   

The above Deferred Tax Liabilities have not been recognised as they have given rise to the carry forward revenue 
losses for which the Deferred Tax Asset has not been recognised. 
 
Accounting Policy 
The charge for current income tax expense is based on the profit for the year adjusted for any non-assessable 
or disallowed items.  It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or are substantively enacted by the 
reporting date. 
 
Deferred tax is accounted for using the liability method in respect of temporary differences arising between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. No deferred income tax 
will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, where 
there is no effect on either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss. 
 
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or 
liability is settled.  Deferred tax is credited in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
except where it relates to items that may be credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is adjusted 
directly against equity. 
 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future tax profits will be available 
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. The amount of benefits brought to account or 
which may be realised in the future is based on the assumption that no adverse change will occur in income 
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taxation legislation and the anticipation that the Group will derive sufficient future assessable income to enable 
the benefit to be realised and comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed by the law. 
 
Tax Consolidation 
Skylark and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have not formed an income tax consolidated group under 
tax consolidation legislation. 
 
Key Estimates, Judgments and Assumptions 
Judgement is required in assessing whether deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised on the statement 
of financial position.  Deferred tax assets, including those arising from temporary differences, are recognised 
only when it is considered more likely than not that they will be recovered, which is dependent on the generation 
of future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefits to be utilised. 
 

Note 5. Key Management Personnel Compensation 
 
Names and positions held of Consolidated Entity key management personnel in office at any time during the 
financial year are: 
 

Key Management Personnel Position 
Nikolai Zelenski Executive Chairman (appointed 17 December 2024) 
Frederick Hess Non-Executive Director (transitioned from Non-Executive Chairman on 

17 December 2024) 
Michael Jardine Managing Director  
Alexander Downer Non-Executive Director (resigned 17 December 2024) 
Paul Cahill Non-Executive Director  
Danny Segman Non-Executive Director (appointed 28 November 2024) 
Bruce Garlick Non-Executive Director (resigned 28 November 2024) 
Jonathan Whyte Company Secretary  

 
The totals of remuneration paid to key management personnel of the Company and the consolidated group 
during the year are as follows: 

 2025 2024 
 $ $ 
Key Management Personnel Compensation   
Short term employment benefits 774,064  579,082 
Post-employment benefits  18,032  18,424 
Share-based payments  1,282,053  190,795 
Total Key Management Personnel Compensation  2,074,149 788,301 
   

Key management personnel remuneration has been included in the Remuneration Report section of the 
Directors’ Report. 
 
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than 
those available to other parties unless otherwise stated:  

• No amounts in addition to those disclosed in the Remuneration Report in the Directors’ Report were 
paid or payable to Directors of the Company at the end of the year; and 

• There were no loans to key management personnel at the end of the year. 
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Note 6. Auditor’s Remuneration 
 
During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by PKF Perth, the auditor 
of the Group: 

 2025 2024 
 $ $ 
   
Audit or review of financial statements 58,550 53,663 
Preparation of tax return 8,200 7,800 
Total Auditor’s Remuneration 66,750 61,463 

 

Note 7. Loss Per Share  
 
The following reflects the income and share data used in the calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share 
(‘EPS’): 

 2025 
$ 

2024 
$ 

a) Reconciliation of earnings to loss   
Loss used to calculate basic and diluted EPS (4,534,415) (1,572,903) 
Basic and diluted loss per share (cents) (10.85) (0.10) 
   

 2025 
No. 

2024 
No. 

b) Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the 
year   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year used in calculating basic and dilutive EPS 41,780,006 1,536,638,163 

 
Accounting Policy  

Basic earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing the net profit after income tax attributable to members of 
the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares 
issued during the year. 
 
Diluted earnings per share 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into 
account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential 
ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration 
in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.  
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Note 8. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 2025 

$ 
2024 

$ 
   
Cash at bank and in hand 7,378,616 1,266,340 
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 7,378,616 1,266,340 

 
Accounting Policy 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of 3 months or less, and bank overdrafts that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 

Note 9. Trade and Other Receivables 
 2025 

$ 
2024 

$ 
Current    
GST receivable 25,001  31,038 
Prepayments  12,095  11,785 
Accrued interest  32,000  - 
Total Trade and Other Receivables  69,096 42,823 
   

Accounting Policy 
Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment. 
 

Note 10. Controlled Entities 
 Country of Incorporation Percentage Owned (%) 
 2025 2024 
Parent Entity    
Skylark Minerals Limited Australia N/A N/A 
    
Subsidiaries of Skylark Minerals Limited:    
Ironbark Zinc Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
Doctor Evil Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
Ironbark Aust Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
Bedford (No 3) Ltd British Virgin Islands 100% 100% 
Perseverance Lithium Pty Ltd1 Australia 100% - 
Skylark Minerals UK Limited2 United Kingdom 100% - 
    
Subsidiaries of Ironbark Aust Pty Ltd:    
Ironbark A/S Greenland 100% 100% 

 
Notes: 
 

1. In June 2024, the Company entered an agreement to acquire 100% of Perseverance Lithium Pty Ltd for A$100,000 
payable in cash which, in turn, owns the Perseverance Project. Completion occurred in July 2024. 

2. The Company incorporated Skylark Minerals UK Limited on 11 April 2025. 
  
There were no other acquisitions or disposals of controlled entities during the year.  
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Note 11. Financial Assets 
 2025 

$ 
2024 

$ 
Current    
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 9,715 
 - 9,715 
   

Financial assets comprise of investments in the ordinary issued capital of various entities. There are no fixed 
returns or fixed maturity dates attached to these investments. 
 
The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to credit, market and liquidity risk related to financial assets is disclosed in 
Note 24 Financial Risk Management. 
 
Accounting Policy 
Investments are initially measured at fair value.  
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired or have been transferred 
and the consolidated entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. When there is 
no reasonable expectation of recovering part or all of a financial asset, it's carrying value is written off. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets not measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income are 
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Typically, such financial assets will be either: (i) 
held for trading, where they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the short-term with an intention of making 
a profit, or a derivative; or (ii) designated as such upon initial recognition where permitted. Fair value 
movements are recognised in profit or loss. 
 

Note 12. Other Assets 
 2025 

$ 
2024 

$ 
Non-Current   
Environmental bond1 2,591,920  2,311,477 
Security deposits  115,000  55,000 
Total Non-Current Other Assets  2,706,920 2,366,477 
   

Notes: 
1. Over the period July 2018 to December 2019, the Company transferred approximately 14 million Danish Kroner 

(DKK) into a Greenlandic escrow account to cover the potential rehabilitation of the exploration camp at Citronen.  
 
The Government of Greenland agreed to allow the Company to redraw 50% of the escrowed funds over May and 
June 2020, being AUD $1,538,903 (DKK 6,630,000). The key condition of drawdown is that these funds are 
reinstated no more than 24 months later provided that the Citronen exploration camp is still potentially in need of 
rehabilitation. A revised bonding regime is currently under negotiation. The Greenland Government has requested 
that the Company deposit additional funds into the escrow account by the end of 2025 to cover the potential 
rehabilitation of the Citronen exploration camp however the final amount owed and precise timeline of payments 
are yet to be fully agreed. Based on the current rehabilitation plan the additional bond funding required is 
estimated at AUD $999,675. 
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As at 30 June 2025, non-current environmental bond assets consist of Greenland escrow account balance of AUD 
$1,592,245 and repayable non-cash balance of AUD $999,675. The repayable amount is reflected as a current 
liability at Note 17. 
 

Note 13. Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 
 2025 

$ 
2024 

$ 
Movement in Carrying Value:   
Balance at the beginning of the year 153,557 64,808 
Exploration expenditure capitalised during the year 497,691 331,940 
Foreign exchange movement on translation 10,102 3,508 
Impairment of exploration expenditure1 (112,556) (246,699) 
Carrying Amount at the End of the Year 548,794 153,557 
   

The value of the exploration expenditure is dependent upon: 
• The continuance of the rights to tenure of the areas of interest; 
• The results of future exploration; and 
• The recoupment of costs through successful development and exploitation of the areas of interest or 

alternatively by their sale. 
 

Project 
Location of 
Tenements 

Working 
Interest 

2025 Carrying 
Value ($) 

2024 Carrying 
Value ($) 

Captains Flat (JV with Glencore)1 New South Wales 50% - - 
Simon-Anderson Copper Project Queensland 80% 307,892 153,557 
Fiery Creek1 New South Wales 100% - - 
Perseverance Critical Minerals Project Brazil 100% 240,902 - 
Citronen1 Greenland 100% - - 
   548,794 153,557 
Notes: 

1. The Consolidated Entity assessed the carrying value of its exploration expenditure for indicators of impairment 
Consolidated Entity has continued to recognise a full provision for impairment against the Citronen, Captains Flat 
and Fiery Creek projects in accordance with AASB 6 Exploration and Evaluation of Mineral Resources and AASB 136 
Impairment of Assets. The associated expense is included in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. 

 
Accounting Policy 
Exploration and evaluation costs, including the costs of acquiring licences, are capitalised as exploration and 
evaluation assets on an area of interest basis.  Costs incurred before the Group has obtained the legal rights to 
explore an area are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
Exploration and evaluation assets are only recognised if the rights of interest are current and either: 

• The expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the 
area of interest; or 

• Activities in the area of interest have not, at the reporting date, reached a stage which permits a 
reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves and active 
and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing. 

 
A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry 
forward costs in relation to that area of interest. 
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An impairment exists when the carrying amount of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure relating 
to an area of interest exceeds its recoverable amount.  The asset is then written down to its recoverable amount.  
Any impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral resources in an area of 
interest are demonstrable, exploration and evaluation assets attributable to that area of interest are first tested 
for impairment and then reclassified from exploration and evaluation expenditure to mining property and 
development assets within property, plant and equipment and depreciated over the life of the mine. 
 
Costs of site restoration are provided over the life of the facility from when exploration commences and are 
included in the costs of that stage. Site restoration costs include the dismantling and removal of mining plant, 
equipment and building structures, waste removal, and rehabilitation of the site in accordance with clauses of 
the mining permits. Where applicable, such costs are determined using estimates of future costs, current legal 
requirements and technology on an undiscounted basis. 
 
Key Estimates, Judgments and Assumptions 
 
Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets and investments in and loans to subsidiaries 
The ultimate recoupment of the value of exploration and evaluation assets, the Company’s investment in 
subsidiaries, and loans to subsidiaries is dependent on the successful development and commercial exploitation, 
or alternatively, sale, of the exploration and evaluation asset. 
 
Impairment assessments are carried out on a regular basis to identify whether the asset carrying values exceed 
their recoverable amounts.   
 

Note 14. Interests in Joint Operations 
 
The Company has a material joint operation Captains Flat tenement in Australia.  The Company has a 50% share 
in the tenement lease which is jointly owned with NSW Base Metals Pty Ltd (‘NSW Base Metals’).  The Company 
has classified this as a joint arrangement because under the terms of the arrangement, NSW Base Metals and 
the Company share the ownership of the asset.  The tenement expenditure commitments are jointly funded by 
NSW Base Metals and the Company. 
 
Accounting Policy 
A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have 
rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.  Joint control is the 
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant 
activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. 
 
When a group entity undertakes its activities under joint operations, the Group as a joint operation recognises 
in relation to its interest in a joint operation: 

• Its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; 
• Its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; 
• Its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation; 
• Its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and  
• Its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly. 
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The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation 
in accordance with the AASBs applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. 
 
When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a sale or 
contribution of assets), the Group is considered to be conducting the transaction with the other parties to the 
joint operation, and gains and losses resulting from the transactions are recognised in the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements only to the extent of the other parties’ interest in the joint operation. 
 
When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a 
purchase of assets), the Group does not recognise its share of the gains and losses until it resells those assets to 
a third party. 

Note 15. Trade and Other Payables 
 2025 

$ 
2024 

$ 
Current    
Trade payables 292,157  481,674 
Funds held in trust   50,000  313,800 
Sundry payables and accrued expenses  231,714  161,061 
Total Trade and Other Payables  573,871 956,535 
   

Accounting Policy 
Trade and other payables represent the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period for good and 
services received by the consolidated group during the reporting period which remains unpaid. The balance is 
recognised as a current liability with the amount being normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability.  
 

Note 16. Provisions 
 2025 

$ 
2024 

$ 
Current    
Employee Entitlements:   
Annual leave 26,167  8,806 
Long service leave  21,646  19,195 
Total Current Provisions  47,813 28,001 
   

Accounting Policy 
Wages, salaries and annual leave 
Liabilities for wages, salaries and annual leave expected to be settled within one year of the reporting date are 
recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 
 
Employee benefits payable later than one year 
Employee benefits payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of the estimated future 
cash outflows to be made for those benefits. 
 
Superannuation 
Contributions are made by the Group to superannuation funds as stipulated by statutory requirements and are 
charged as expenses when incurred.  
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Note 17. Other Liabilities 
 2025 

$ 
2024 

$ 
Current   
Environmental bond payable1 999,675  895,453 
Total Current Liabilities  999,675 895,453 
   

Notes: 
1. Over the period July 2018 to December 2019, the Company transferred approximately 14 million Danish Kroner 

(DKK) into a Greenlandic escrow account to cover the potential rehabilitation of the exploration camp at Citronen.  
 
The Government of Greenland agreed to allow the Company to redraw 50% of the escrowed funds over May and 
June 2020, being AUD $1,538,903 (DKK 6,630,000). The key condition of drawdown is that these funds are 
reinstated no more than 24 months later provided that the Citronen exploration camp is still potentially in need of 
rehabilitation. A revised bonding regime is currently under negotiation. The Greenland Government has requested 
that the Company deposit additional funds into the escrow account by the end of 2025 to cover the potential 
rehabilitation of the Citronen exploration camp however the final amount owed and precise timeline of payments 
are yet to be fully agreed. Based on the current rehabilitation plan the additional bond funding required is 
estimated at AUD $999,675. 
 
Refer to Note 12 for details of environmental bond assets at 30 June 2025. 

 
Note 18. Issued Capital 

 2025 
$ 

2024 
$ 

A reconciliation of the movement in capital and reserves for the 
consolidated group can be found in the Statement of Changes in 
Equity. 
 

  

70,309,787 fully paid ordinary shares (2024: 1,593,872,617) 157,467,711 145,177,911 
Less: capital raising costs (6,994,017) (5,137,536) 
 150,473,694 140,040,375 

 

 
2025 

No. 
2024 

No. 
a) Ordinary Shares – Number of Shares   
At the beginning of the reporting year 1,593,872,617 1,466,784,261 
Shares issued during the year:   
Placements (pre-consolidation)1 178,700,000 120,000,000 
Shares issued to corporate advisors (pre-consolidation)1 61,075,187 - 
Share consolidation 125/12 (1,818,978,017) - 
Placement (post consolidation)3 50,000,000 - 
Shares issued to corporate advisors (post-consolidation)4 3,500,000 - 
Shares issued to Directors & Employees (post-consolidation)5 2,140,000 7,088,356 
Total at the end of the reporting year 70,309,787 1,593,872,617 
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 2025 
$ 

2024 
$ 

b) Ordinary Shares – Value of Shares   
At the beginning of the reporting year 140,040,375 139,536,519 
Shares issued during the year:   
Placements (pre-consolidation)1 714,800 600,000 
Shares issued to corporate advisors (pre-consolidation)1 340,000 - 
Placement (post consolidation)3 10,000,000 - 
Shares issued to corporate advisors (post-consolidation)4 700,000 - 
Shares issued to Directors & Employees (post-consolidation)5 535,000 45,000 
Less: capital raising costs (1,856,481) (141,144) 
Total at the end of the reporting year 150,473,694 140,040,375 
   

Notes: 
1. On 1 July 2024 the Company completed the tranche 1 Placement, issuing 98,700,000 Placement Shares at $0.004 

per share, together with 98,700,000 free attaching Placement Options, to raise A$394,800 (before costs). On 14 
August 2024 the Company held a General Meeting of shareholders to approve the 80,000,000 tranche 2 Placement 
Shares and 80,000,000 free attaching Placement Options, which were duly issued on 27 August 2024. The Company 
also issued 61,075,187 shares on 27 August 2024 to advisors under various mandates, in lieu of cash fees, and 
10,000,000 Lead Manager options in connection with the Placement. 
 

2. On 3 January 2025 the Company announced that the consolidation of the issued capital of the Company on a one 
hundred and twenty-five (125) for one (1) basis, as approved by shareholders at the General Meeting held on 17 
December 2024, had been completed. 
 

3. On 3 January 2025 the Company raised A$10,000,000 in new funding (before costs) through the issuance of 
50,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares at A$0.20 per Placement Share (on a post-consolidation basis), together with 
two free unlisted attaching options for every three Placement Shares subscribed for.  
 

4. On 3 January 2025 the Company issued 3,500,000 ordinary shares to Bacchus Capital Advisors in connection with 
the Placement. The ordinary shares were valued at a post-consolidation deemed price of $0.20 per share. 

 
5. In December 2024, 2,140,000 Incentive Shares were granted to a Director and employees of the Consolidated 

Entity. 1,500,000 Incentive Shares were approved to Executive Chairman Mr. Nikolai Zelenski at a General Meeting 
of shareholders on 17 December 2024, with the grant of the 640,000 employee Incentive Shares contingent upon 
the Director shares receiving shareholder approval. The ordinary shares were issued on 3 January 2025 and were 
valued at a post-consolidation deemed price of $0.25 per share. 
 

Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the company in proportion to the 
number of shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value. 
 
At the shareholders’ meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each 
shareholder has one vote on a show of hands. 
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c) Options 
As at 30 June 2025, the unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option are as follows: 
 

Details Grant Date Number Exercise Price ($) Date of Expiry 
Listed Options Various 1,843,314 $2.75 7 Nov 2025 
Unlisted Options 11 Dec 2023 400,000 $1.25 14 Dec 2026 
Unlisted Options 17 Dec 2024 21,713,310 $0.30 3 Jul 2026 
Unlisted Options 17 Dec 2024 21,713,171 $0.40 3 Jan 2028 
 
d) Capital Management 

The Directors’ primary objective is to maintain a capital structure that ensures the lowest cost of capital to the 
Company. At reporting date the Company has no external borrowings. The Company is not subject to any 
externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
Accounting Policy 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or 
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.  Incremental costs directly attributable 
to the issue of new shares or options, or for the acquisition of a business, are included in the cost of the 
acquisition as part of the purchase consideration. 
 
Key Estimates, Judgments and Assumptions 
The Consolidated Entity measures the cost of equity settled transactions by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value of share options is determined by an 
external valuer using an appropriate valuation model. 
 

Note 19. Reserves 
 

 2025 
$ 

2024 
$ 

   
Share-based payments reserve(a) 1,607,389 678,602 
Foreign currency reserve(b) 2,589,499 2,426,771 
Total Reserves 4,196,888 3,105,373 
   

a) Share-Based Payments Reserve 
The share-based payments reserve records items recognised as expenses on valuation of employee share and 
consultants’ options. 
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A reconciliation of the movement in the share-based payments reserve is as follows: 
 

 2025 
$ 

2024 
$ 

   
At the beginning of the reporting year  678,602 1,018,247 
Share-based payments (Note 22) 1,048,826 190,795 
Capital raising costs (share-based) (Note 22) 461,038 95,060 
Historic balance write-off – expired rights (581,077) (625,500) 
Total at the end of the reporting year 1,607,389 678,602 
   

Accounting Policy – Share-Based Payments 

Equity-settled share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees. 

Equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, or options over shares, that are provided to employees in 
exchange for the rendering of services. Cash-settled transactions are awards of cash for the exchange of services, 
where the amount of cash is determined by reference to the share price. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions are measured at fair value on grant date. Fair value is independently 
determined using either the Black-Scholes or Hoadley option valuation model that takes into account the 
exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price 
volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the 
option, together with non-vesting conditions that do not determine whether the consolidated entity received 
the services that entitle the employees to receive payment. No account is taken of any other vesting conditions.  

The cost of equity-settled transactions are recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity 
over the vesting period. The cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant date fair value 
of the award, the best estimate of the number of awards that are likely to vest and the expired portion of the 
vesting period. The amount recognised in profit or loss for the period is the cumulative amount calculated at 
each reporting date less amounts already recognised in previous periods.  

Market conditions are taken into consideration in determining fair value. Therefore any awards subject to 
market conditions are considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that market condition has been met, 
provided all other conditions are satisfied.  

If equity-settled awards are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the modification has not been 
made. An additional expense is recognised, over the remaining vesting period, for any modification that 
increases the total fair value of the share-based compensation benefit as at the date of modification.  

If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the consolidated entity or employee, the failure to satisfy 
the condition is treated as a cancellation. If the condition is not within the control of the consolidated entity or 
employee and is not satisfied during the vesting period, any remaining expense for the award is recognised over 
the remaining vesting period, unless the award is forfeited.  
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b) Foreign Currency Reserve 
The foreign currency translation reserve records exchange differences arising on translation of foreign 
operations. 

 2025 
$ 

2024 
$ 

   
At the beginning of the reporting year  2,426,771 2,429,833 
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations 162,728  (3,062) 
Total at the end of the reporting year 2,589,499 2,426,771 

 
Accounting Policy - Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances 
 
Functional and presentation currency 
The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian 
dollars which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. 
 
Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end exchange rate. Non-
monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date when fair 
values were determined. 
 
Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, except where deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net 
investment hedge. 
 
Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognised directly in equity to the 
extent that the gain or loss is directly recognised in equity, otherwise the exchange difference is recognised in 
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
Group companies 
The financial results and position of foreign operations whose functional currency is different from the Group’s 
presentation currency are translated as follows: 

• assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange rates prevailing at that reporting date; 
• income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period; and 
• retained earnings are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. 

 
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations are transferred directly to the Group’s foreign 
currency translation reserve in the statement of financial position. These differences are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which the operation is disposed. 
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Note 20. Operating Segments 
 
The Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by 
the Board of Directors and Managing Director (chief operating decision makers) to make decisions about 
resources to be allocated to the segments and assess their performance. Operating segments are identified by 
Management based on the mineral resource and exploration activities in Australia and Greenland. Discrete 
financial information about each project is reported to the chief operating decision maker on a regular basis.  
 
Basis of accounting for purposes of reporting by operating segments 
 
(a) Accounting policies adopted 

Unless otherwise stated, all amounts reported to the Board of Directors and Managing Director, being the 
chief decision makers with respect to operating segments, are determined in accordance with accounting 
policies that are consistent to those adopted in the annual financial statements of the consolidated group. 
 

(b) Segment assets 
Where an asset is used across multiple segments, the asset is allocated to that segment that receives the 
majority asset economic value from that asset. In the majority of instances, segment assets are clearly 
identifiable on the basis of their nature and physical location.  

 
(c) Segment liabilities 

Liabilities are allocated to segments where there is a direct nexus between the incurrence of the liability 
and the operations of that segment. Borrowings and tax liabilities are generally considered to relate to the 
consolidated group as a whole and are not allocated. Segment liabilities include trade and other payables. 

 
(d) Unallocated items 

Unallocated results, assets and liabilities represent corporate amounts that are not core to the reportable 
segments. 
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Geographical Information 

 
2025 

$ 
2024 

$ 
Non-Current Assets   
Australia 665,593 211,131 
Greenland 2,591,920 2,311,477 
Total Non-Current Assets 3,257,513 2,522,608 

 

30 June 2025 
Australia 

$ 
Greenland 

$ 
Total 

$ 
    
Revenue    
Unallocated Revenue     
Interest income - - 132,202 
Total Revenue - - 132,202 
    
Expenses    
Impairment expense (59,893) (52,663) (112,556) 
Allocated Segment Expenses (59,893) (52,663) (112,556) 
    
Unallocated Expenses    
Corporate and compliance expense - - (672,572) 
Employee benefits expense - - (756,446) 
Consulting expense - - (772,403) 
Due diligence expense - - (677,052) 
Share-based payments expense - - (1,650,326) 
Foreign exchange loss - - (24,487) 
Depreciation expense - - (775) 
Loss for the Year - - (4,534,416) 
    
Segment Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 7,378,616 - 7,378,616 
Trade and other receivables 69,096 - 69,096 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure 548,794 - 548,794 
Property, plant & equipment 1,799 - 1,799 
Other assets 115,000 2,591,920 2,706,920 
Total Assets 8,113,305 2,591,920 10,705,225 
    
Segment Liabilities    
Trade and other payables 573,871 - 573,871 
Provisions 47,813 - 47,813 
Other liabilities - 999,675 999,675 
Total Liabilities  621,684 999,675 1,621,359 
 
 



 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2025 

Skylark Minerals Limited | Annual Report                                                                                                      45 | P a g e  
 

30 June 2024 
Australia 

$ 
Greenland 

$ 
Total 

$ 
    
Revenue    
Unallocated Revenue     
Other revenue - - 23,254 
Total Revenue - - 23,254 
    
Expenses    
Impairment expense (180,868) (65,831) (246,699) 
Allocated Segment Expenses (180,868) (65,831) (246,699) 
    
Unallocated Expenses    
Corporate and compliance expense - - (549,395) 
Employee benefits expense - - (575,201) 
Consulting expense - - (222,669) 
Share-based payments expense - - (244,009) 
Extinguishment of liability - - 276,280 
Foreign exchange loss - - (33,689) 
Depreciation expense - - (775) 
Loss for the Year - - (1,572,903) 
    
Segment Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 688,683 128,531 817,214 
Trade and other receivables 42,823 - 42,823 
Financial assets 9,715 - 9,715 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure 153,557 - 153,557 
Property, plant & equipment 2,574 - 2,574 
Other assets 55,000 2,311,477 2,366,478 
Total Assets 952,352 2,440,008 3,392,360 
    
Segment Liabilities    
Trade and other payables 940,925 15,610 956,535 
Provisions 28,001 - 28,001 
Other liabilities - 895,453 895,453 
Total Liabilities  968,926 911,063 1,879,989 
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Note 21. Cash Flow Information 
 
Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with loss after income tax: 

 2025 
$ 

2024 
$ 

   
Net loss for the year (4,534,415) (1,572,903) 
   
Non-cash flows in loss   
Impairment expense 112,556 246,699 
Share-based payments expense 1,650,326 244,009 
Foreign exchange loss 24,487 33,689 
Consulting fees (share-based) 340,000 - 
Depreciation expense 775 775 
   
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of the effects of purchase and 
disposal of subsidiaries   

(Increase) in trade and other receivables  (26,273) (17,854) 
(Decrease) in trade payables relating to operating activities (86,905) (49,267) 
Increase in provisions 19,811 5,799 
Net cash outflows from operating activities (2,499,638) (1,109,053) 

 
Note 22. Share-Based Payments 

 2025 2024 
 $ $ 
   
Incentive shares1 535,000 - 
Incentive options2 638,012 - 
Performance rights3 383,283 - 
Loan shares4 27,531 190,795 
Director fees in lieu of cash5 66,500 53,214 

Total Share-Based Payments – P&L 1,650,326 244,009 

   

Advisor fees in lieu of cash6 461,038 95,060 

Total Share-Based Payments – Equity (Costs of Capital) 461,038 95,060 

 
Notes: 

 
1. In December 2024, 2,140,000 Incentive Shares were granted to a Director and employees of the Consolidated 

Entity. 1,500,000 Incentive Shares were approved to Executive Chairman Mr. Nikolai Zelenski at a General Meeting 
of shareholders on 17 December 2024, with the grant of the 640,000 employee Incentive Shares contingent upon 
the Director shares receiving shareholder approval. The ordinary shares were issued on 3 January 2025 and were 
valued at a post-consolidation deemed price of $0.25 per share. 

 
2. In December 2024, 5,913,000 unlisted Incentive Options were granted to Directors and employees of the 

Consolidated Entity. 5,360,000 Director options were approved at a General Meeting of shareholders on 17 
December 2024, with the grant of the 553,000 employee options contingent upon the Director options receiving 
shareholder approval. The options were issued in two tranches, with Class A exercisable at $0.30 on or before 3 
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July 2026 and Class B exercisable at $0.40 on or before 3 January 2028, with no vesting conditions specified. The 
options were issued on 3 January 2025. 
 
The options were valued using a Hoadley ESO2 valuation model, utilising the following inputs: 
 

Measurement of Fair Value Class A Class B 
Grant date  17 Dec 2024 17 Dec 2024 
Number issued  2,956,500 2,956,500 
Grant date share price  $0.25 $0.25 
Exercise price  $0.30 $0.40 
Expiry date  3 Jul 2026 3 Jan 2028 
Expected volatility  100% 100% 
Option life  1.5 years 3 years 
Risk-free interest rate  3.88% 3.88% 
Fair value per option granted  $0.1002 $0.1156 
Expense vested during year  $296,241 $341,771 

 
3. In December 2024, 6,780,000 Performance Rights were granted to Directors and employees of the Consolidated 

Entity. 4,900,000 Director Performance Rights were approved at a General Meeting of shareholders on 17 
December 2024, with the grant of the 1,880,000 employee Performance Rights contingent upon the Director rights 
receiving shareholder approval. The rights were issued in two tranches, with Class A vesting when the VWAP over 
20 consecutive days exceeds $0.30 before 3 July 2026 and Class B vesting when the VWAP over 20 consecutive 
days exceeds $0.40 before 3 January 2028.  
 
The rights were valued using a Hoadley Barrier 1 valuation model, utilising the following inputs: 
 

Measurement of Fair Value Class A Class B 
Grant date  17 Dec 2024 17 Dec 2024 
Number issued  3,390,000 3,390,000 
Grant date share price  $0.25 $0.25 
VWAP hurdle price  $0.30 $0.40 
Expiry date  3 Jul 2026 3 Jan 2028 
Expected volatility  100% 100% 
Right life  1.5 years 3 years 
Risk-free interest rate  3.88% 3.88% 
Fair value per right granted  $0.2147 $0.2206 
Total fair value  $727,955 $747,885 
Expense vested during year  $277,004 $106,279 

 
4. On 29 November 2021, 8,000,000 loan shares were approved for advance at the Annual General Meeting to Non-

Executive Directors Mr. Alexander Downer AC (4,000,000 loan shares) and Mr. Paul Cahill (4,000,000 loan shares).  
The limited recourse loans were valued independently using the Hoadley option valuation model and were 
expensed over the term of the loans. No loan shares have been advanced and the option to issue the loan shares 
expired on 27 November 2024. 
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Valuation and Assumptions of Loan Shares:   
   Tranche B 
Grant date   29 Nov 2021 
Maximum number to be issued   8,000,000 
Share price   $0.0410 
Exercise price   $0.0423 
Barrier price   $0.0460 
Vesting date   N/A 
Expiry date   27 Nov 2024 
Volatility   100% 
Option life   3.00 
Dividend yield    - 
Risk-free interest rate   0.92% 
Value per loan share   $0.0251 
Total fair value   $200,800 
Expense vested during year   $27,531 

 
5. Amounts for Dr. Frederick Hess’ and Mr. Danny Segman’s equity-based remuneration for the current financial year 

have been accrued as at 30 June 2025. Issue of the fully paid ordinary shares is subject to shareholder approval at 
the Company’s Annual General Meeting.   
 

6. On 14 August 2024, 10,000,000 listed options were issued to Copeak Pty Ltd as Lead Manager to the August 2024 
Placement. The listed options were valued at $10,000 based on a deemed price of $0.001 per option (pre-
consolidation), had an exercise price of $0.022 (pre-consolidation) and expire on 7 November 2025. 
 
In December 2024, 4,180,150 unlisted options were granted to Argonaut Securities Pty Ltd and Taylor Collision 
Limited as Joint Lead Managers to the December 2024 Placement. The options were issued in two tranches, with 
Class A exercisable at $0.30 on or before 3 July 2026 and Class B exercisable at $0.40 on or before 3 January 2028, 
with no vesting conditions specified. The options were issued on 3 January 2025. 
 
The options were valued using a Hoadley ESO2 valuation model, utilising the following inputs: 
 

Measurement of Fair Value Class A Class B 
Grant date  17 Dec 2024 17 Dec 2024 
Number issued  2,090,074 2,090,076 
Grant date share price  $0.25 $0.25 
Exercise price  $0.30 $0.40 
Expiry date  3 Jul 2026 3 Jan 2028 
Expected volatility  100% 100% 
Option life  1.5 years 3 years 
Risk-free interest rate  3.88% 3.88% 
Fair value per option granted  $0.1002 $0.1156 
Expense vested during year  $209,425 $241,613 
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Note 23. Parent Entity Disclosures 
 2025 

$ 
2024 

$ 
   
Current assets 7,441,025 730,798 
Non-current assets 554,888 2,532,520 
Total assets 7,995,913 3,263,318 
   
Current liabilities 545,550 1,864,380 
Non-current liabilities - - 
Total liabilities 545,550 1,864,380 
   
Net assets 7,450,363 1,398,938 
   
Issued capital 150,473,694 140,040,376 
Share based payments reserve 1,607,389 678,602 
Accumulated losses (144,630,720) (139,320,040) 
Total equity 7,450,363 1,398,938 
   
Loss of parent entity (4,319,803) (1,495,173) 
Other comprehensive loss - - 
Total comprehensive loss of the parent entity (4,319,803) (1,495,173) 
    

Commitments 
The commitments of the Parent Entity are consistent with that of the Consolidated Entity (refer to Note 25). 
 
Contingent Assets, Contingent Liabilities and Guarantees 
The contingent assets, contingent liabilities and guarantees of the Parent Entity are consistent with that of the 
Consolidated Entity (refer to Note 27). 
 

Note 24. Financial Risk Management 
 
The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, local money market instruments, short-
term investments, accounts receivable and payable. 
 
Financial Risk Management Policies  
 
a) Treasury Risk Management 

The Board meets on a regular basis to analyse financial risk exposure and to evaluate treasury management 
strategies in the context of the most recent economic conditions and forecasts. The Board’s overall risk 
management strategy seeks to assist the Group in meeting its financial targets, whilst minimising potential 
adverse effects on financial performance. 
 
Risk management policies are approved and reviewed by the Board on a regular basis.  These include the 
use of credit risk policies and future cash flow requirements. 
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b) Financial Risk Exposures and Management 
The main risks the Group is exposed to through its financial instruments are foreign currency risk, liquidity 
risk, credit risk and price risk. 
 

i. Foreign currency risk 
The Group is exposed to fluctuations in foreign currencies arising from the sale and purchase of 
goods and services in currencies other than the Group’s measurement currency. The currencies in 
which these transactions primarily are denominated are AUD and DKK.  
 
The carrying amount of the Consolidated Entity's foreign currency denominated financial assets and 
financial liabilities at the reporting date was as follows: 
 

 Assets Liabilities 
 2025 

Kr 
2024 

Kr 
2025 

Kr 
2024 

Kr 
Consolidated     
DKK 6,649,013 7,149,505 - - 

 
The effect of a 10% strengthening DKK against the AUD at the reporting date on the DKK-
denominated assets and liabilities carried within the AUD functional currency entity would, all other 
variables held constant, have resulted in a decrease in post-tax loss for the year and increase of net 
assets of A$159,822 (2024: A$153,936). 

 
ii. Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 
due. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always 
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, 
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. Typically the 
Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses; this 
excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such 
as natural disasters. 
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 Financial Asset & Financial Liability Maturity Analysis 

 Within 1 Year 1-5 Years Over 5 Years Totals 
 2025 

$ 
2024 

$ 
2025 

$ 
2024 

$ 
2025 

$ 
2024 

$ 
2025 

$ 
2024 

$ 
Financial Assets         
Cash and cash 
equivalents 7,378,616 817,214 - - - - 7,378,616 817,214 

Trade and other 
receivables 25,001 31,038 - - - - 25,001 31,038 

Financial assets - 9,715 - - - - - 9,715 
Other assets - - 2,706,920 2,366,477 - - 2,706,920 2,366,477 
Total Financial 
Assets 7,403,617 857,967 2,706,920 2,366,477 - - 10,110,537 3,224,444 

         
Financial Liabilities         
Trade and other 
payables 573,872 956,535 - -  - 573,872 956,535 

Other financial 
liabilities 999,675 895,453 - -  - 999,675 895,453 

Total Financial 
Liabilities 1,573,547 1,851,988 - -  - 1,573,547 1,851,988 

         
 

iii. Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group’s 
receivables from customers and investment securities. The maximum exposure to credit risk, 
excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at reporting date to recognised financial 
assets, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as 
disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements. 

 
The Group does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or Group 
of receivables under financial instruments entered into by the Group. 
 
Credit risk related to balances with banks and other financial institutions are managed in 
accordance with approved Board policy. The consolidated group’s current investment policy is 
aimed at maximising the return on surplus cash, with the aim of outperforming the benchmark 
within acceptable levels of risk return exposure and to mitigate the credit and liquidity risks 
that the consolidated group is exposed to through investment activities. 
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The following table provides information regarding the credit risk relating to cash and money 
market securities based on Standard and Poor’s counterparty credit ratings. 
 

 2025 
$ 

2024 
$ 

Cash and cash equivalents   
A-Rated 7,378,616 817,214 
   

iv. Price risk 
• Commodity price risk 

The Group is not directly exposed to commodity price risk. However, there is a risk that 
the changes in prevailing market conditions and commodity prices could affect the 
viability of the project. 
 

• Equity price risk 
Equity price risk arises from equity securities held. Material investments are managed on 
an individual basis and all buy and sell decisions are approved by the board. 
 

v. Interest rate risk exposure analysis 
Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at the 
end of the reporting period whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future cash 
flows or the fair value of fixed rate financial instruments. The consolidated group does not use 
derivatives to mitigate these exposures. 
 

 
 

Weighted Average 
Effective Interest 

Rate 
Floating Interest  

Rate 
Non-Interest  

Bearing 
 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 

 % % $ $ $ $ 
Financial Assets       
Cash at bank & on hand 4.05% - 6,500,000 - 878,616 817,214 
Receivables - - - - 25,001 31,038 
Other assets 4.80% 3.35% 115,000 55,000 2,591,920 2,311,477 
Total Financial Assets   6,615,000 55,000 3,495,537 3,159,729 
       
Financial Liabilities       
Payables - - - - 573,872 956,535 
Other liabilities - - - - 999,675 895,453 
Total Financial Liabilities   - - 1,573,547 1,851,988 
 
The above interest rate, foreign exchange rate and price risk sensitivity analysis has been 
performed on the assumption that all other variables remain unchanged. 
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Fair Value 
Fair values are those amounts at which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. Fair values may be based on information that is 
estimated or subject to judgement, where changes in assumptions may have a material impact on the amounts 
estimated. Areas of judgement and the assumptions have been detailed below. Where possible, valuation 
information used to calculate fair value is extracted from the market, with more reliable information available 
from markets that are actively traded. In this regard, fair values for listed securities are obtained from quoted 
market prices. Where securities are unlisted and no market quotes are available, fair value is obtained using 
discounted cash flow analysis and other valuation techniques commonly used by market participants.  
 
The following methods and assumptions are used to determine the net fair values of financial assets and 
liabilities: 

a) Cash and short-term investments – the carrying amount approximates fair value because of their short 
term to maturity; 

b) Trade receivables and trade creditors – the carrying amount approximates fair value; and 
c) Other assets and liabilities approximate their carrying value. 

 
No financial assets and financial liabilities are readily traded on organised markets in standardised form other 
than listed investments. 
 

Note 25. Capital Commitments  
 
In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration tenements the Group is required to perform 
minimum exploration work to meet the minimum expenditure requirements specified by various State 
Governments and overseas government bodies. These obligations can be reduced by selective relinquishment 
of exploration tenure or renegotiation.  
 

 2025 
$ 

2024 
$ 

Minimum Tenement Expenditure Commitments   
Within one year 564,067 299,167 
Later than one year but no later than five years 737,167 141,667 
Total  1,301,234 440,834 

 
Greenland Government Environmental Deposit 
The Company has agreed to provide a guarantee to the Greenland Government to support potential costs of 
rehabilitation of the site in relation to removal of the camp and equipment and returning the site to its original 
state (refer to Note 12). 
 

 2025 
$ 

2024 
$ 

   
Within one year 2,591,920 2,311,477 
Later than one year - - 
Total  2,591,920 2,311,477 
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Note 26. Events After Reporting Date 
 
On 9 September 2025 the Company announced the agreement to divest 100% of its Citronen Project was 
terminated after the end date was reached without all of the conditions precedent to completion being satisfied. 
 
No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or 
may significantly affect the operations of the Consolidated Entity, the results of those operations, or the state 
of affairs of the Consolidated Entity in future financial years. 
 

Note 27. Contingent Assets and Liabilities 

The Company is unaware of any contingent assets or liabilities that may have a material impact on the 
Company’s financial position.
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Consolidated Entity Disclosure Statement 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2025 
 
Skylark Minerals Limited is required by Australian Accounting Standards to prepare consolidated financial 
statements in relation to the Company and its controlled entities (the ‘Consolidated Entity’). 
 

Name of Entity Type of Entity Country of 
Incorporation 

Percentage 
Owned (%) 

Tax 
Residency 

    
Parent Entity     
Skylark Minerals Limited Body corporate Australia N/A Australia 
Subsidiaries of Skylark Minerals Limited:     
Ironbark Zinc Pty Ltd Body corporate Australia 100% Australia 
Doctor Evil Pty Ltd Body corporate Australia 100% Australia 
Ironbark Aust Pty Ltd Body corporate Australia 100% Australia 
Bedford (No 3) Ltd Body corporate British Virgin 

Islands 
100% British Virgin 

Islands 
Perseverance Lithium Pty Ltd Body corporate Australia 100% Australia 
Skylark Minerals UK Limited Body corporate United 

Kingdom 
100% United 

Kingdom 
Subsidiaries of Ironbark Aust Pty Ltd:     
Ironbark A/S Body corporate Greenland 100% Greenland 

 
At the end of the financial year, no entity within the Consolidated Entity was a trustee of a trust within the 
Consolidated Entity, a partner in a partnership within the Consolidated Entity, or a participant in a joint venture 
within the Consolidated Entity. 
 
Basis of preparation 
 
The Consolidated Entity Disclosure Statement (‘CEDS’) has been prepared in accordance with subsection Section 
295 (3A) of the Corporations Act 2001. The entities listed in the statement are Skylark Minerals Limited and all 
the entities it controls in accordance with AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
Key assumptions and judgements 
 
Determination of tax residency 
Section 295 (3A) Corporations Act requires that the tax residency of each entity which is included in the CEDS be 
disclosed. In the context of an entity which was an Australian resident, "Australian resident" has the meaning 
provided in the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 (Cth). The determination of tax residency involves judgement 
as the determination of tax residency is highly fact dependent and there are currently several different 
interpretations that could be adopted, and which could give rise to a different conclusion on residency. In 
determining tax residency, the Consolidated Entity has applied the following interpretations: 
 
Australian tax residency 
The Consolidated Entity has applied current legislation and judicial precedent, including having regard to the 
Commissioner of Taxation's public guidance in Tax Ruling TR 2018/5. 
 
Foreign tax residency 
The Consolidated Entity has applied current legislation and where available judicial precedent in the 
determination of foreign tax residency. Where necessary, the Group has used independent tax advisers in 
foreign jurisdictions to assist in its determination of tax residency to ensure applicable foreign tax legislation has 
been complied with.  
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Directors’ Declaration 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2025 
 
The Directors of the Company declare that: 
 
1. In the Directors’ opinion, the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto, as set out on pages 23 

to 55, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
 

(a) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; 
 

(b) as stated in Note 1, the consolidated financial statements also comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards; and 
 

(c) giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2025 and of its 
performance for the year ended on that date. 
 

2. In the directors’ opinion, the consolidated entity disclosure statement required by subsection 295(3A) of 
the Corporations Act 2001 is true and correct. 
 

3. In the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds, at the date of this declaration, to believe that 
Skylark Minerals Limited will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable. 

 
4. The Directors of the Company present the Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 June 2025 in 

accordance with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 

This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made by the Managing Director 
and Chief Financial Officer to the directors in accordance with Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the 
financial year ending 30 June 2025. 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors made pursuant to Section 295(5)(a) of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 
 

 
Michael Jardine 
Managing Director 
 
18 September 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF SKYLARK MINERALS LIMITED 

 
Report on the Financial Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Skylark Minerals Limited (the “Company”), which comprises the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2025, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information, the consolidated entity 
disclosure statement, and the directors’ declaration of the Company and the consolidated entity comprising the Company 
and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 
 
In our opinion the accompanying financial report of Skylark Minerals Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including: 

 
i) Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2025 and of its performance for 

the year ended on that date; and 
 

ii) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 
 
Independence 

We are independent of the consolidated entity in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the code.
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Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial report for the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial report as 
a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter 

1. Recognition and carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets 
 

Why significant  How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

 

As at 30 June 2025 the carrying value of exploration 
and evaluation assets was $548,794 (2024: 
$153,557), as disclosed in Note 13. Capitalised 
Exploration and Evaluation assets have been 
impaired during the year by $112,556 relating to 
the Citronen Project in Greenland along with Fiery 
Creek Project in Australia and is recognised within 
the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income as an Impairment 
expense.   
The consolidated entity’s accounting policy in 
respect of exploration and evaluation expenditure 
is outlined in Note 1 & Note 13.   
 
Significant judgement is required:   

➢ in determining whether facts and 

circumstances indicate that the 

exploration and evaluation assets should 

be tested for impairment in accordance 

with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 

6 Exploration for and Evaluation of 

Mineral Resources (“AASB 6”); and  

➢ in determining the treatment of 

exploration and evaluation expenditure in 

accordance with AASB 6, and the 

consolidated entity’s accounting policy. In 

particular:  

• whether the particular areas of 

interest meet the recognition 

conditions for an asset; and   

• which elements of exploration and 

evaluation expenditures qualify for 

capitalisation for each area of 

interest.  

  

Our work included, but was not limited to, the following 
procedures:  
➢ conducting a detailed review of management’s 

assessment of impairment trigger events prepared in 
accordance with AASB 6 including:  

• assessing whether the rights of tenure to 
tenements and exploration licenses in the various 
areas of interest remained current at reporting 
date as well as confirming that rights to tenure are 
expected to be renewed for tenements and 
exploration licenses that will expire in the near 
future;  

• holding discussions with management as to the 
status of ongoing exploration programmes for the 
areas of interest, as well as assessing if there was 
evidence that a decision had been made to 
discontinue activities in in any specific areas of 
interest; and  

• obtaining and assessing evidence of the 
consolidated entity’s future exploration for the 
areas of interest, including reviewing future 
budgeted expenditure and related work 
programmes.  

➢ considering whether exploration activities for the 
areas of interest had reached a stage where a 
reasonable assessment of economically recoverable 
reserves existed;  

➢ testing, on a sample basis, exploration and evaluation 
expenditure incurred during the year for compliance 
with AASB 6 and the consolidated entity’s accounting 
policy; and  

➢ assessing the appropriateness of the related 
disclosures in Note 1 and 13.  

below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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2. Share Based Payments 

Why significant  How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

For the year ended 30 June 2025, the value of share 
based payments issued, and recognised in the 
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income, totalled $1,650,326 
(2024: $244,009) and $461,038 (2024: $95,060) in 
Equity as costs of capital, as disclosed in Note 22. 

The consolidated entity’s accounting judgement 
and estimates in respect of share-based payments 
is outlined in Note 19. Significant judgement is 
required in relation to: 

➢ The valuation method used in the model; and 
➢ The assumptions and inputs used within the 

model. 

 

 
Our work included, but was not limited to, the following 
procedures:  

 
➢ Obtaining management’s valuation model and 

determine the appropriateness of the valuation model 
utilised; 
 

➢ Assessing the reasonableness of the inputs 
incorporated into the valuation model, including 
exercise price, share price at grant date, volatility, and 
interest rate; 

 
➢ Reperforming the vesting expense allocation 

calculation; 
 
➢ Reviewing Board meeting minutes and ASX 

announcements as well as enquiring of relevant 
personnel to ensure all share-based payments had 
been recognised; and  

 
➢ Assessing the appropriateness of the related 

disclosures in Note 19 and Note 22. 
 

Other Information 

Those charged with governance are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the consolidated entity’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2025 but does not include the financial report 
and our auditor’s report thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of the Remuneration Report.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors’ for the Financial Report 

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of:- 

a) the financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true and fair view in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001; and 

b) the consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct in accordance with the Corporations Act2001; 
and 
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for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of:- 

i) the financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statements) that gives a true and fair view and is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and 

ii) the consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct and is free of misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.  

  
In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the consolidated entity’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the consolidated entity or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 
 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
consolidated entity’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the Directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the consolidated entity to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and whether 
the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the consolidated entity to express an opinion on the group financial report. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.  
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We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.  

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in 
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  

Report on the Remuneration Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the Directors’ Report for the year ended 30 June 2025. 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Skylark Minerals Limited for the year ended 30 June 2025, complies with section 
300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  

Responsibilities 

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in 
accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration 
Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 
 
 

 
PKF PERTH 
 

 
SIMON FERMANIS  
PARTNER 
 
18 September 2025 
PERTH, WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
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ASX Additional Information 
 

a) Distribution of Shareholders as at 17 September 2025 
 
Spread of Holdings Number of Ordinary 

Shareholders 
Number of Shares 

1 – 1,000 1,609 453,331 
1,001 – 5,000 538 1,325,183 

5,001 – 10,000 128 945,359 
10,001 – 100,000 229 9,652,732 

100,001 – and over 110 57,933,182 
Total 2,614 70,309,787 

 
b) Top 20 Shareholders as at 17 September 2025 

 
Position Holder Name Holding % IC 

1 TORONGA PTY LTD 6,350,000 9.03% 
2 BACCHUS CAPITAL ADVISERS LIMITED 5,730,988 8.15% 
3 J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 5,500,000 7.82% 
4 MR NIKOLAY ZELENSKIY 3,000,000 4.27% 
5 ASIAN INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD 2,325,000 3.31% 
6 BENNELONG RESOURCE CAPITAL PTY LTD 2,146,858 3.05% 
7 MR GAVIN JEREMY DUNHILL 2,100,000 2.99% 
8 EL-RAGHY KRIEWALDT PTY LTD 2,031,605 2.89% 
9 MS WAI HENG HO 1,800,000 2.56% 

10 TREASURY SERVICES GROUP PTY LTD <NERO RESOURCE 
FUND A/C> 

1,500,000 2.13% 

11 PENTIRE HOLDINGS PTY LTD <DEVONSHIRE A/C> 961,167 1.37% 
12 GP SECURITIES PTY LTD 900,000 1.28% 
13 SAILORS OF SAMUI PTY LTD 800,000 1.14% 
14 NYRSTAR INTERNATIONAL BV 781,526 1.11% 
15 GECKO RESOURCES PTY LTD 700,000 1.00% 
16 MR MARK RAYMOND FREWIN 625,000 0.89% 
17 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 598,035 0.85% 
18 BAITA HOLDINGS PTY LTD 

<THE BAITA FAMILY A/C> 
553,943 0.79% 

19 ROWLEY SUPER INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <ROWLEY FAMILY 
SUPER A/C> 

550,000 0.78% 

20 N & J MITCHELL HOLDINGS PTY LTD <ORD STREET 
PROPERTIES A/C> 

500,000 0.71% 

  Total 39,454,122 56.11% 
  Total issued capital - selected security class(es) 70,309,787 100.00% 

 
c) Ordinary share capital 

• The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of shares is 1,905, totalling 
927,652 ordinary shares. 

• Each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each member present at 
a meeting or by proxy has one vote on a show of hands. 
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Schedule of Interests in Mining Tenements 30 June 2025 

 

Mineral Resources and Reserves (MROR) Statement 30 June 2025 
The current JORC 2012 compliant resource for Citronen (see ASX announcement dated 19 July 2021):  

84.7 million tonnes at 4.72% Zn & 0.47% Pb 

Category Mt Zn (%) Pb (%) 

Open pit @ 1.5% Zn cut-off    

Measured 11,767,520 2.9 0.5 

Indicated 2,159,548 2.6 0.3 

M&I 13,927,068 2.8 0.5 

Inferred 3,303,573 2.9 0.4 

Open pit total 17,230,641 2.8 0.4 

    Underground @ 3.5% Zn cut-off    

Measured 22,518,764 5.2 0.5 

Indicated 26,208,555 5.5 0.5 

M&I 48,727,319 5.4 0.5 

Inferred 18,744,401 4.8 0.4 

Underground total 67,471,720 5.2 0.5 

    TOTAL Mineral Resource    

Measured 34,286,284 4.36 0.51 

Indicated 28,368,103 5.30 0.46 

Inferred 22,047,974 4.55 0.42 

Total 84,702,361 4.72 0.47 

 

Project 
Mining Licence and 

Tenements Held 
Location of Tenements % of Interest 

Captains Flat  
(Joint Venture with 
Glencore) 

EL6381 New South Wales 50% 

Simon-Anderson Copper 
Project 

EP14694 
EPM11898 

Queensland 80% 

Fiery Creek EL6925  New South Wales 100% 

Perseverance Critical 
Minerals Project 

Angelandia 
Itambacuri 

Morro do Pilar 
Virgolandia 
Capelinha 

Candido Sales 
Encruzilhaha 

Brazil 100% 

Citronen ML 2016/30 Greenland 100% 



  

Skylark Minerals Limited | Annual Report                                                                              64 | P a g e  
 

JORC Table 1 included in an announcement to the ASX released on 19th July 2021: “2021 Bankable Feasibility 
Study Confirms Citronen as World Class Zinc Project”. Skylark confirms that it is not aware of any new information 
or data that materially affects the information included in this announcement and that all material assumptions 
and technical parameters underpinning the estimates continue to apply and have not materially changed. The 
Company confirms that the form and context in which the Competent Person’s findings are presented have not 
been materially modified from the original market announcement.  
 
Ore Reserve 
 
The current JORC 2012 complaint Ore Reserve for Citronen is summarised below:  

 

Deposit Category 
Tonnes 

(Mt) 

ZnEq 
grade 
(%)* 

Zn 
grade 

(%) 

Pb 
grade 

(%) 

ZnEq 
metal 
(Mt) 

Zn 
metal 
(Mt) 

Pb 
metal 
(Mt) 

Beach underground 
Proved 19.0 5.5 5.2 0.5 1.0 1.0 0.1 

Probable 7.0 5.8 5.7 0.5 0.4 0.4 0.03 

Esrum underground 
Proved - - - - - - - 

Probable 15.8 5.1 4.8 0.4 0.8 0.8 0.06 

Discovery open pit 
Proved 5.5 3.5 3.2 0.6 0.2 0.2 0.03 

Probable 1.4 2.5 2.3 0.4 0.04 0.03 0.01 

Total 

Proved 24.6 5.1 4.6 0.5 1.2 1.1 0.13 

Probable 24.2 5.1 5.0 0.4 1.2 1.1 0.10 

Total 48.8 5.1 4.8 0.5 2.5 2.3 0.24 

 
The Ore Reserve is based on Measured and Indicated Resources only and does not include any Inferred Mineral 
Resources. JORC Table 1 included in an announcement to the ASX released on 19th July 2021: “2021 Bankable 
Feasibility Study Confirms Citronen as World Class Zinc Project” Skylark confirms that it is not aware of any new 
information or data that materially affects the information included in this announcement and that all material 
assumptions and technical parameters underpinning the estimates continue to apply and have not materially 
changed. The Company confirms that the form and context in which the Competent Person’s findings are 
presented have not been materially modified from the original market announcement.  
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Exploration Target 
 
40 Mt to 90 Mt at 5.0% to 7.1% zinc + lead combined  

Prospect Area 
Prospective 

sulphide 
horizons 

Tonnes from - 
to (Mt) 

Zinc % Grade 
range 

Lead % Grade 
range 

Combined zinc + lead 
grade 

East L3/L4 3 to 5Mt 4.6 to 6.5% Zn 0.4 to 0.6 % Pb 5 to 7.1% zinc + lead 
Western Gossans L3/L4 5 to 8Mt 4.6 to 6.5% Zn 0.4 to 0.6 % Pb 5 to 7.1% zinc + lead 
Beach South L2/L3 4 to 10Mt 4.6 to 6.5% Zn 0.4 to 0.6 % Pb 5 to 7.1% zinc + lead 
Esrum Extended L3 12 to 28Mt 4.6 to 6.5% Zn 0.4 to 0.6 % Pb 5 to 7.1% zinc + lead 
Discovery South East L1/L2/L3 10 to 25Mt 4.6 to 6.5% Zn 0.4 to 0.6 % Pb 5 to 7.1% zinc + lead 
Discovery 
North/Trilobite Valley 

L2/L3/L4 6 to 14 Mt 4.6 to 6.5% Zn 0.4 to 0.6 % Pb 5 to 7.1% zinc + lead 

            
Total   40 to 90 Mt 4.6 to 6.5% Zn 0.4 to 0.6 % Pb 5 to 7.1% zinc + lead 

 
For further information on the Citronen Exploration Target, please see the ASX announcement dated 11 February 
2021.  The Exploration Target has not been included in the calculation of the life of mine or project NPV. The 
Exploration Target listed above is formed on the basis of historic exploration work at Citronen, including over 
60,000m of diamond drilling and subsequent work sufficient to declare the Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve. 
The potential quantity and grade of the Exploration Target is conceptual in nature, there has been insufficient 
exploration to estimate a Mineral Resource and that it is uncertain if further exploration will result in the 
estimation of a Mineral Resource. 
 
Skylark plans to test the Exploration Targets as part of a phased exploration and resource development program. 
This multi-year program is planned to commence concurrently with mine development and construction, and is 
aimed at further improving the current Citronen mine plan through some potential combination of mine life 
extensions, grade uplift and/or the deferral of major lateral mine development in the current schedule. At 
present, Skylark intends to undertake this work will take place within two years of construction beginning at 
Citronen. 
 
A systematic drilling program is planned to test extensions to the known mineralisation at the newly identified 
conceptual target areas. IBG already has four drill rigs at Citronen that are available for any future exploration 
program, and any further exploration equipment will be mobilised in conjunction with the site construction 
activities as required. 
 
The Exploration Target is based upon review of project drilling, rock chip samples and the limited geophysical 
data available. A 3D geological model of the project was used to assist in identifying prospective areas. Each area 
was systematically reviewed with tonnage ranges based on conceptual target sizes and area prospectivity. 
Exploration Target zinc and lead grade ranges and rock densities are based upon typical grades observed from 
the current Citronen Resource (refer to ASX announcement 12th March 2020). The Exploration Target calculation 
has been based on a combination of actual exploration results as discussed in this report and proposed 
exploration programmes. 
 
Competent Persons Statement 
The information included in this report that relates to Exploration Results & Mineral Resources is based on 
information compiled by Ms Elizabeth Laursen (B. ESc Hons (Geol), GradDipAppFin, MSEG, MAIG), an employee 
of Skylark Minerals Limited. Ms Laursen has sufficient experience that is relevant to the style of mineralisation 
and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which they are undertaking to qualify as a Competent 
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Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Targets, Exploration 
Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves.  Ms Laursen consents to the inclusion in the report of the matters 
based on this information in the form and context in which it appears. 
 
Competent Persons Disclosure 
Ms Laursen is an employee of Skylark Minerals Limited and currently holds securities in the company. 
 
Skylark announced to the ASX on 19th July 2021 information pertaining to the exploration and mineral resource 
estimates of the Citronen Base Metals Project in accordance with ASX Listing Rule 5.8 and compliance with the 
2012 JORC Code. 
 
A review of factors was conducted which may affect the MROR. These factors include: 

• Sovereign risk; 
• Commodity prices; 
• Processing or metallurgical understanding; 
• Environmental or mineability setting; and 
• Standing of consultants/contractors/technology used in estimation process. 

 
Further details relating to the resource can be found on the release lodged with the ASX on 19th July 2021. Table 
1 of the release provides full details on the data collection, interpolation and estimation parameters used in the 
calculation of this statement. 
 
Summary of Governance and Controls 
 
Skylark employs professional technical personnel who oversee exploration and data gathering on site. These 
personnel are also involved with assisting independent consultants and contractors used in the data gathering 
and estimation processes which produce the MROR Statement. 
 
Skylark employs qualified geoscientists (geologists) registered with relevant national professional bodies to 
conduct work required with the preparation and publication of MROR statements. Independent contractors and 
consultants are used in the calculation of mineral resources. Work is also conducted by different organisations 
and results have historically been compared as checks on publicly reported information. Internal controls ensure 
that multiple geologists are involved in the planning, implementation, data gathering, interpretation of results. 
Sample data is checked on site using portable assay equipment and then despatched to independent certified 
assay laboratories for assaying. Data was compiled and QA/QC checks completed by database administration 
consultants. All data gathering is done using standard and acceptable industry practices. Resource estimation is 
conducted using eternal consultants and contractors who have been present on site during periods of 
exploration and have witnessed internal practices and procedures. Resource estimates are then reported when 
they are confirmed by the Competent Person (Skylark staff member) and released. This is considered acceptable 
and industry standard practice. 
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